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Thursday, January 30, 2020
--- On commencing at 9:30 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.  We have a lovely picture of a yellow lab on our screens.  It's a nice way to start the morning.


Good morning, everyone.  We are here today for day one of a hearing for an application by Enbridge Gas Inc. for continuation of the On Bill Access Program, or OBA.  It's OEB file number EB-2018-0319.  My name is Lynne Anderson, and I am a Board Member and the Presiding Member of this Panel.  With me today on the Panel are Bob Dodds, acting Chair of the OEB, and Cathy Spoel, a Board Member.


The application, Enbridge application, was filed on December 4th, 2018, and there have been two settlement proposals filed, both of which the OEB has accepted.  The first settlement was filed in March of 2019 and was more procedural in nature.  Within that settlement the OEB agreed to expand the scope of this proceeding to include whether the OBA would continue.


The second settlement proposal was filed in October 2019 and included an agreement on all but two issues.  The OEB agreed that the OBA program would continue under the existing financial terms to the early -- or the end of the Enbridge Gas's deferred rebasing period or an OEB decision on an earlier application to expand the OBA services into the Union Gas area.  That's the wording from that decision.


There were two unsettled issues that are the subject of this hearing, and they are as follows:  What controls should OBA customers have over the addition, removal, and reinstatement of third-party charges on their Enbridge Gas bill through the OBA services; and, two, what restrictions, if any, should be placed on billing OBA customers for penalties, exit, or termination fees or similar charges through the Enbridge Gas bill.


In addition to the evidence filed by Enbridge there's been evidence filed by the HVAC Coalition and VISTA Credit, and there have been interrogatories and responses on this evidence, all of which are on the record.


So we have scheduled two days of hearing.  Everyone should have a copy of the hearing plan circulated by OEB Staff, and two days should be ample time to hear these two related issues, yet we do find ourselves with a hearing plan that is full for those two days.


So I do remind parties that all cross-examination must be directly related to the OEB's determination of the two unsettled issues.  We have already determined that the OBA is continuing under the existing financial terms; therefore, questions about other details of the OBA are not in scope of this hearing.


We also ask that parties do not repeat questions that have been asked by other parties, and don't exceed the time estimates that have been provided.


This hearing is also not the time to present final arguments.  We will be scheduling time for that.  We will talk about that at some point during this hearing.


So can I have appearances, please.

Appearances:


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you very much.  Good morning, Panel.  My name's David Stevens.  I am counsel representing Enbridge Gas, and with me is Joel Denomy.


MR. DUFFY:  Good morning, Panel.  My name is Patrick Duffy.  I am external counsel to EnerCare, and with me from EnerCare is Tracy Li, and also from our office is Patrick Corny.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I am counsel for the HVAC Coalition.  With me today is Roger Grochmal, who will be a witness.


MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.


MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Board Members.  My name is Ian Mondrow.  I am counsel for VISTA Credit, and to my left is Mr. Glen Leis, who will be introduced more formally later on.  Thank you.


MR. GARNER:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Mark Garner.  I am consultant with the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.


MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.


MR. DONNELLY:  Good morning, Madam Chair and Panel Members.  My name is Jeff Donnelly.  I am the in-house paralegal for Summitt Home Services.


MR. MANN:  And good morning.  My name is Daryl Mann.  I represent Reliance Comfort Limited Partnership.


MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Mann.


MR. LADANYI:  Good morning, Panel.  My name is Tom Ladanyi.  I am consultant to Energy Probe.


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I am joined today by Donald Lau to my left and Charida Walter behind me.


MS. ANDERSON:  And just a point.  I would ask that everyone keep Ms. Walter up to date on any changes in the hearing plan.  She is the master of that, so please communicate any changes to her, thank you.


Is there anyone else?


Okay, before we begin, are there any preliminary matters we -- that -- the schedule has us starting with the Enbridge evidence.  Are there preliminary matters before we begin with that?


Seeing none, I guess it turn it over to Mr. Stevens to introduce, and we can affirm your witnesses if you introduce them.


MR. STEVENS:  Thanks very much, Madam Chair.


Enbridge Gas has a witness panel today comprised of Tracy Lynch, Amir Hasan, and Scott Foster.  We have brief examination in-chief, during which time they will introduce themselves more fully after they have been affirmed.
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Tracy Lynch,

Amir Hasan,

Scott Foster; Affirmed.


MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Stevens, you have an examination-in-chief?


MR. STEVENS:  I do, thank you very much.  Just two housekeeping notes before we begin.  First, I note that earlier today the CVs for each of the witnesses were filed.  I believe that Staff has some paper copies should anybody want to see them.  We apologize for not doing it until today, but they are on the record now.


Secondly, I note that, as requested by the Board, we have prepared a compendium associated with the evidence-in-chief.  It was sent electronically to all parties and there are hard copies for the panel in the room.  It's titled "Compendium of Enbridge Gas Inc. for evidence-in-chief, January 30, 2020".


Just for the Panel's information, the compendium is provided for convenience and reference.  We --


MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Stevens, I don't think we have that.


MR. STEVENS:  Oh, I'm sorry.  I believe they may be beside Mr. Lau.


MS. SPOEL:  And Mr. Millar can give it an exhibit.


MR. MILLAR:  Right.  While they are being brought up we will label that as Exhibit K1.1, the Enbridge compendium.  

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  ENBRIDGE COMPENDIUM.


MR. SHEPHERD:  While that's happening, I wonder if I could ask whether the written evidence we got the other day and the CVs have exhibit numbers?


MR. STEVENS:  The written evidence is found behind tab 1 of the compendium, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MR. STEVENS:  And the CVs were filed on to the record today.  I mean, I am quite content to have exhibits added to them if you like.  We had thought that they would simply just go on to the record of the proceeding.


MR. MILLAR:  I am in your hands, Madam Chair.  I don't know that we need to mark them individually.


MS. ANDERSON:  That's fine then, thank you.


MR. STEVENS:  As I was saying, the witnesses don't intend to specifically refer to documents within the compendium.  However, they will reference these documents, so the documents are included simply for convenience and reference.


As Mr. Shepherd mentioned, earlier this week Enbridge did provide for the convenience of all parties an outline of its evidence in-chief, and that's found behind tab 1 of the compendium, and that's where we will turn with the witnesses now.

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Stevens:


MR. STEVENS:  Witnesses, I would like to begin just by asking you briefly about your role with the OBA program, starting with you, Ms. Lynch.


MS. LYNCH:  Good morning.  My title is director, large volume contracting and policy, and I am responsible for the overall management of the OBA program.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And secondly, Mr. Hasan.


MR. HASAN:  Yes, my title is supervisor, third-party programs, and I am responsible for day-to-day operations of the open bill program.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And finally, Mr. Foster.


MR. FOSTER:  My title is advisor, third-party programs, and I am responsible for billing relationships and compliance management of the OBA program.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And on behalf of the entire witness panel, Ms. Lynch, can you please confirm that the evidence prepared in this proceeding related to the OBA program, including interrogatory responses, was prepared by you or under your direction?

MS. LYNCH:  Confirmed.

MR. STEVENS:  Can you please confirm that to the best of your knowledge, the evidence is accurate?

MS. LYNCH:  Confirmed.

MR. STEVENS:  And can you please confirm that you, on behalf of the witness panel, adopt the evidence for the purpose of your testimony?

MS. LYNCH:  Confirmed.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Staying with you, Ms. Lynch, can you just speak briefly for context, and provide a brief description of the OBA program?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes.  The open bill access or OBA program provides billing and collection services to third parties for their non-gas products and services through the Enbridge Gas bill.  The services provided through the OBA program include delivering -- billing of products and services, including bill processing and delivery, collection of bill or charges and remittances, basic call centre support, and dispute tracking for customers.

The program is funded through fees paid by billers, and it currently provides an annual net benefit of $5.389 million to rate payers in the Enbridge Gas rate zone.  This amount is embedded in rates through the end of 2023.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Mr. Hasan, can you speak briefly, please, about the current status of the OBA program?

MR. HASAN:  Yes.  Enbridge Gas currently has contracts with 170 open billers.  Approximately 1.4 million customers are billed through the program each month.

The response to HVAC interrogatory 29 provides a history of a number of billers using the OBA program, and the number of bills issued by Enbridge Gas on behalf of the billers.

Over a hundred products and services can be billed through the program, such as water heaters, air conditioners.  A full list of products that can be billed -- that can be billed through the OBA program can be found on Appendix B of the OBA manual, in response to HVAC interrogatory 26.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And can you also speak briefly, Mr. Hasan, to the regulatory approvals that have been received for the OBA program to continue its operations?

MR. HASAN:  Sure.  The current OBA program was first approved by the Ontario Energy Board in 2007.  And since that time, the Board has approved several settlements reached through the collaborative efforts of Enbridge Gas, billers, customer groups, and other interested groups.  These settlements have resulted in a number of positive improvements to the OBA program under each proceeding.  All parties have agreed to the continuation of the OBA program and the related financial terms.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And now turning to question number 7 in our script, Ms. Lynch, Ms. Anderson spoke about where we are at in the process in terms of the second settlement agreement having been approved and the continuation of the OBA program having been approved.

Can you speak briefly just to the key aspects of the settlement that the OEB approved in October of this year?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes.  The ultimate result was the development of a supplementary partial settlement proposal in October of 2019, which was filed and approved by the Board.

So the key aspects of the settlement include continuation of the OBA program to the end of Enbridge Gas's current rebasing period, so that was the end of 2023, continuation of the existing financial terms, commitment by Enbridge Gas to providing information about the OBA program and customers' rights and obligations, initiation of annual meetings of OBA stakeholders, and ongoing provision of information about program performance by Enbridge Gas to interested parties, and agreement by Enbridge Gas to renegotiation of the OBA contract between Enbridge Gas and billers.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And Ms. Anderson, our presiding member, spoke about what are the two outstanding items remaining to be determined in this proceeding.  The first of these is around what level of control OBA customers should have over the addition, removal and reinstatement of third-party charges on the Enbridge bill.

Mr. Foster, can you please summarize Enbridge Gas's current practices that are relevant to this item?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes.  Enbridge Gas filed supplementary evidence in November 2019, marked as Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 2, describing its current practices.

Subsequently, Enbridge Gas has answered interrogatories on this supplementary evidence.

Enbridge Gas currently provides a tracking service for disputes between billers and customers.  It is the biller's responsibility to manage customer relations and resolve conflicts.  As shown in table 1 of Enbridge Gas's supplementary evidence, the number of disputes in relation to the total number of bills is quite small and has ranged from 1.5 percent to .18 percent over the past few years.

In the current OBA dispute management process, an OBA customer can call Enbridge Gas to dispute a charge or they can also create a dispute through the Enbridge Gas website, if they have an online account.  In either case, the dispute is logged in the Enbridge Gas dispute tracker.  It is then reported to the biller in the daily dispute report.

Depending on the details provided by the customer, the dispute is logged as a consumer protection Act CPA dispute or non-CPA.  A sample dispute report can be found in the response to VECC Interrogatory No. 6.

Billers have the responsibility to communicate the status of each customer billing dispute to the Enbridge biller hotline by e-mail on or before the due date.  For CPA disputes, the biller has 15 days to resolve the dispute.  For non-CPA disputes, they have 45 days.  The majority of the dispute process between Enbridge Gas and the biller is automated.

Customer billing disputes are deemed closed in the dispute's tracking system if either of the following occur. Enbridge Gas will close the dispute if it's not closed in the tracking system by the biller by the due date identified in the dispute report.  Enbridge Gas then credits the disputed charges from the bill and blocks that product from being billed to that customer from that biller going forward.  Or the dispute is closed in the tracking system by the biller if they have resolved the dispute with the customer.  For example, if the customer agrees to continue paying the charges or agrees to a credit to settle the dispute, or the biller has advised the customer that they will remove and credit the charge.

If a customer calls again to say the dispute is not resolved, the dispute is reinstated and the process starts again.  However, the biller only has until the original due date to resolve the dispute. If it is after the original due date, the biller is given five business days to resolve the dispute.

If the dispute is not resolved by the new due date, Enbridge Gas will close the dispute, credit the dispute charges, and block the billing.

If a dispute is reinstated a second time if the customer calls back, the process does not start again. Enbridge Gas closes the dispute, credits the disputed charges, and blocks the billing.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And the second unsettled issue relates to the inclusion of end of contract charges on the Enbridge Gas bill from third parties.  Can you please summarize Enbridge Gas's current practices relevant to this second item?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes.  Enbridge Gas's current practice is to allow charges for approved bill type codes, as set out in appendix B of the OBA manual.  The OBA manual is provided in response to HVAC Interrogatory No.26.  These bill type codes include end of contract charges.

The expectation is that billers are only billing charges that that are allowed under the customer services agreement with their customer.  This requirement is set out in section 7.1(d) of the OBA agreement.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Turning back to you, Ms. Lynch, does Enbridge Gas propose any changes to its current practices relevant to the unsettled items?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes.  As set out in response to HVAC Interrogatory No.30, Enbridge Gas believes that the OBA program is functioning well.  The program is a result of many years of extensive consultation amongst billers, consumer groups, and Enbridge Gas.  For unsettled item number 1, Enbridge Gas does not believe that OBA customers should direct the addition of third-party charges on their Enbridge Gas bill.  This would be administratively burdensome and expensive, considering there are 1.4 million OBA customers.

Enbridge Gas would support an updated approach to the current complaint and dispute management process.  In response to HVAC interrogatory 30, Enbridge Gas proposes to harmonize the duration of the dispute resolution process. Under this approach, all disputes would be resolved by the biller within 15 days, failing which the disputed charges would be credited back to the customer and the charge and bill type code would be blocked from future billing.

If a customer contacts Enbridge Gas after the dispute was reported as resolved and indicates that is not the case, then the disputed charges would be credited back to the customer and the charge and bill type codes would be blocked from future billing.

Enbridge Gas believes that this updated approach strikes an appropriate balance between customer control and effective operation of the OBA program.  Advantages of this proposed approach include providing customers with quicker resolution to their disputes, ensuring that while most -- ensuring that most disputes will be resolved within one billing period, while maintaining the opportunity for billers to resolve misunderstandings and minor disputes and continue to use the OBA program to bill customers.

It removes the requirement for Enbridge Gas to identify disputes as CPA or non-CPA and it minimizes the changes and associated costs to back-office -- or OBA program back-office processes and system changes.

For unsettled item number 2, Enbridge Gas does not believe that restrictions are necessary to limit billers from charging post-termination amounts associated with their customer contracts.

Enbridge Gas believes that customers will have adequate protection from the proposed update to the complaint and dispute management process, which will allow customers to have any disputed charge removed from the bill within 15 days if no resolution is reached with the biller.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

In the evidence and position papers provided by other parties several alternate proposals have been made around how to address the unsettled items.  I would like to briefly ask you about a small number of these proposal so the parties have the benefit of Enbridge Gas's position on the record before they start their cross-examination.

First of all, each of HVAC Coalition and VISTA Credit have proposed that Enbridge Gas should discontinue its current dispute process and instead simply remove any OBA charges from the bill immediately upon a customer complaint.

Does Enbridge Gas support that proposal?

MS. LYNCH:  No.  Enbridge Gas does not feel that this is a balanced approach for both customers and billers and it creates an additional administration burden on the OBA program.  In addition, it takes away the opportunity for customers and billers to resolve issues that may be a simple matter of clarification between the parties.

As outlined in the evidence, most disputes are resolved before being removed from the bill.  As shown in response to Staff Interrogatory No.9A, the resolution rate for disputes has ranged from 81 to 94 percent over the past few years.  This indicates that the vast majority of disputes can be resolved between the customer and biller provided they are given time to do so.  This demonstrates that the dispute mechanism is working in most cases but it could be improved with some adjustments.

As noted, Enbridge Gas proposal results in a more expedited approach to dispute resolution, providing 15 days for all disputes, and it utilizes the system functionality that is already in place.

As previously indicated, the current process is largely automated.  If the dispute mechanism is removed, the back office must manually make changes in the system to immediately stop billing, take charges -- take off the charge and credit the customer.

You will also note that Enbridge Gas is currently under a system freeze until such time as the system changes can be made.  Additional administrative steps would be required to implement any proposed changes.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And staying with the proposals from HVAC Coalition and VISTA Credit, each of those parties propose that on the second unsettled item the billers should not be permitted to include end-of-contract charges such as termination and buyout charges on the Enbridge Gas bill.

Does Enbridge Gas support that proposal?

MS. LYNCH:  No.  Enbridge Gas does not support this proposal for several reasons.  The OBA program contemplates that billers may include any charges allowed under their customer-service agreements on customer bills.  This may include end-of-contract charges.

Enbridge Gas expects that billers would use other means to charge end-of-contract charges if they were not permitted to be included on the Enbridge Gas bill.  Enbridge Gas believes that customer convenience and choice is better accommodated by allowing the charges to be included as part of the OBA program.

As noted, our proposed update to the dispute management process will allow the customer to have any charges they dispute removed from the Enbridge Gas bill within 15 days.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And turning to the OEB Staff position statement which was provided a couple of days ago, I note that an alternate proposal is put forward for the first unsettled item, and it has a couple aspects to it that I would like to ask you about.

First, OEB Staff proposes that when a customer requests that a third-party charge be removed from the Enbridge bill, then Enbridge should notify the biller and should effect the removal ten days later unless either the biller says no delay is necessary in removing the charge, or the customer or the biller with written authorization from the customer specifically withdraws the request during the ten-business-day period.

What is Enbridge Gas's response to this proposal from Board Staff?

MS. LYNCH:  Enbridge Gas believes that the proposal we have made for a 15-calendar-day dispute period is more efficient and effective.

We have three concerns with the OEB Staff proposal.  First, a system that contemplates customers reaching out directly to Enbridge Gas to confirm resolution of their dispute will create the need for a large number of manual transactions.

Considering that currently more than 20,000 disputes a year, so around 90 percent of all disputes, are resolved between the biller and the customer before the end of the dispute period, the number of manual transactions under the OEB Staff proposal would be significant.  The number of resolved dispute each year is set out in response to Staff interrogatory 9(c).

Second, the OEB Staff proposal seems to contemplate that the only resolution of a dispute is the continuation of the same disputed OEB charge -- or same disputed OBA charge on the Enbridge Gas bill.

In our experience, what often happens is that the dispute is resolved by the biller and the customer agreeing on a different negotiated solution.  This could include a change to the billed amount or the frequency of the amount.

Enbridge Gas has a business practice in place to accommodate receiving this updated information from billers in an automated way and then implementing the resolution in subsequent billing.  This would not be possible where it is the customer who is communicating the terms of an alternate resolution.  There is also the concern that the customer description of the resolution may be incomplete and require further interactions.

Finally, the option suggested by OEB Staff where the biller would tell Enbridge Gas that no delay in removing the disputed charge is necessary will likely require manual intervention for each transaction unless the biller is submitting an updated billing file.

In any event, given that the customer is not required to pay a disputed charge during the dispute period and they're informed of that, this step does not seem necessary.  

Enbridge Gas believes that a better balance between customer choice and convenience and administrative efficiency is achieved by its proposal, which sees the charge being removed 15 days after a customer raises a dispute unless the biller advises that a resolution -- and submits details of the resolution.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And finally, OEB Staff also indicates in their proposal that a third-party charge should only be added or reinstated on the Enbridge Gas bill by way of written authorization by the customer or from the biller providing specific written authorization from the customer.

What's Enbridge Gas's response to that aspect of the Board Staff proposal?

MS. LYNCH:  Enbridge Gas does not agree that specific written authorization from the customer is required to include an OBA charge on the Enbridge Gas bill in the first instance; that is, before any dispute arises.  This would be administratively very difficult.  Each year Enbridge Gas receives requests to add as many as 800,000 new OBA transactions to its bills.  It would not be feasible for Enbridge Gas to receive and administer that volume of customer authorizations.

Enbridge Gas does not believe that there is a problem that needs to be solved in terms of adding new OBA charges to the Enbridge Gas customer bills.  The current approach is working well.

At present day each -- at present each day billers send a file to Enbridge Gas with all of the new charges to be included, along with charges that are no longer to be billed.

Under the OBA agreement billers warrant that they are only adding charges that are clearly and unambiguously established in their valid customer-service agreements with the customer.  The reference for that section is 7.1(d) of the OBA agreement between Enbridge Gas and billers.

Enbridge Gas does, however, agree with OEB Staff that when an OBA charge has been removed from the Enbridge Gas bill following a dispute and the expiry of the 15-day resolution period, then that charge should only be reinstated with written authorization from both the customer and biller.  At that time, the assumption should be that the customer does not agree to their reinstatement of the charge unless the biller provides written notice to Enbridge Gas, including authorization from the customer that the charges should be reinstated.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, panel.  That concludes our evidence in-chief.  We have no further questions, and the witnesses are ready for cross-examination.

MS. ANDERSON:  Great, thank you.  According to our plan, I guess it's Mr. Duffy.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Duffy:


MR. DUFFY:  Thank you, good morning.  Good morning, Enbridge panel.

You mentioned in your evidence that Enbridge's proposal is to use a 15-day window the for both CPA and non-CPA disputes.  And maybe, just for everyone's benefit, can you give us a sense of what a non-CPA dispute involves?

MR. FOSTER:  Sure.  So some examples of non-CPA disputes would be they're questioning the amount, or they think that the amount is wrong.  They have had the charge for a number of months, or even over a year, and they didn't expect something to renew.

MR. DUFFY:  Many of these, would you agree, would be fairly routine sort of disputes that happen between billers and customers?

MR. FOSTER:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Would Enbridge consider, during this 15-day window, any sort of procedure to extend the resolution period if, for example, a customer wasn't being responsive to a biller's inquiry and the biller could show that?

MS. LYNCH:  As we have outlined, we do feel that the 15 days strikes the right balance in allowing us to use the functionality that we have.  In our proposal, we do recognize that there may be instances where it would take longer than the 15 days.  But we do feel in those circumstances that the additional step would be required for an authorization from the customer.

MR. DUFFY:  With that additional step after the 15 days, you have mentioned written authorization in your evidence in-chief, would Enbridge be willing to accept for instance a recorded call, or an online change made by the customer as well?

MS. LYNCH:  We would consider what we think would be the right way to operationalize showing that authorization, yes.

MR. DUFFY:  You mentioned that there is time needed to implement changes because of a system freeze.  I believe, from your evidence that was filed in response to the IRs, that's a system freeze to the end of 2021.  Is that correct?

MS. LYNCH:  The current freeze is in place until the end of 2021.

MR. DUFFY:  You mentioned that therefore additional administrative steps would need to be implemented to make these changes.  Could you give us some sense as to, if an order were made by the Board, how long it would take to implement such measures?

MS. LYNCH:  Following a decision in this proceeding, one of the next steps that we have agreed to in the settlement proposal is the renegotiation of the contract that we have between Enbridge Gas and OBA billers.  So that process will be initiated within 60 days of a decision in this proceeding.

We expect that those negotiations will take a number of months to complete.  We do think it would be very efficient and effective to have all the outcomes of this proceeding and the renegotiation of the contract completed prior to moving with any required system changes.

For system changes, as noted, there is the freeze.  However, to the extent that there is something that is compliance related, then we would look to put that forward.

I will note that there may be a number of compliance-related changes that will be required, so we will still need to work in that queue for the order of the changes that would be completed.

MR. DUFFY:  Thank you.  And one final question.  In the material, there's agency authorizations where a biller gets a client to authorize it as its agent.  And just so that I understand, Enbridge accepts those authorizations and allows a biller to act on behalf of the customer when dealing with Enbridge; is that correct?

MR. HASAN:  Yes, we do have that process in place, and we expect that it will continue.

MR. DUFFY:  Thank you very much.  No further questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Donnelly?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Donnelly:


MR. DONNELLY:  Good morning, Panel Members and Chair, and thank you, witnesses, for your testimony; it's much appreciated.

Mr. Duffy has asked a few of the questions that I was going to ask, so in the interest in expediency and saving time, I really just have one general question of the panel.  So I will ask it to all of you, and then you can each respond to the question.

We have heard your evidence in references to the significantly low amount of biller disputes compared to the number of billers being billed on a monthly basis.  Is it your evidence that there is not a systemic abuse of the open bill program as it pertains to biller disputes and removal of charges, including billers -- including end of contract charges?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. DONNELLY:  Thank you, that's all my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Donnelly.  And next, oh, Mr. Millar.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  That went fast.  Good morning, Panel.  Why don't we begin -- Staff has a compendium.  Perhaps we could mark that, Madam Chair, as Exhibit K 1.2. 
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MR. MILLAR:  I will be relatively brief as well.

Ms. Lynch, I think in your examination-in-chief, you discussed Staff interrogatory 9, which we have provided in tab 1 of our materials.  And we asked you a couple of questions there.

In 9(c), you can see the question there on the screen, we asked for a breakdown of resolved disputes, and we asked you to the add a line for disputes that were reinstated one or more times.  And if you flip a couple of pages ahead here, you can see the response to that interrogatory.  I think it's the next page, one more page.  Yes, you will see a chart at the top of that page.

So you provided us with this chart that sets out that information, and it seems that the trend for disputes that are being reinstated one or more times has been increasing.  We see the numbers there from 2014 through partial 2019 and they jump around a bit, but the trend seems to be moving up.

Can you give me any insight as to why -- first, why we might be seeing that?  Or is that something that Enbridge even knows?

MR. FOSTER:  We don't know why the trend is that way.  However, under our new proposal, we'd be removing the reinstatements.

MR. MILLAR:  The suggestion appears to me to be -- and again, if you can't comment on that, that's fine -- well, it's not a high proportion, but an increasing number of the disputes that the billers told you were resolved were not in fact resolved; is that a fair way to look at it?

MR. FOSTER:  It has varied by year, and I think looking at 2019, even though it's not a full year, it seems that it's starting to trend lower than it has for the previous couple of years.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, that's helpful, but my question was more directly -- these disputes that are reinstated, it seems in those cases that those are disputes that you were told were resolved but in fact were not resolved; is that what those are?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes, that's what those are.

MR. MILLAR:  And we asked you in 9(d) what evidence you require from a biller to prove that a dispute has been resolved, and you can see the response there is that you don't require any.

Have you given any more thought to that policy in light of at least up to 2018 the increasing trend with reinstated disputes?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes, and that's why in our new proposal we are removing that, the reinstatement option.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  So instead of requiring some sort of evidence your solution is instead that you only get one strike, essentially.

MR. FOSTER:  Exactly.  If a customer calls back after the biller said it has been resolved, we are not reinstating that, we are removing and crediting the charges.

MR. MILLAR:  That's helpful, thank you.

Maybe we can turn to tab 4, this was a related interrogatory posed by EnerCare.  And I am referring specifically to question 3(b), again was similar to the question asked at Staff 9.  They asked for the number of disputes that were reinstated from 2014 to 2019 and also the number of times the charges were credited back to customer by Enbridge after the dispute was reinstated, and if you flip to the response, which is on the next page, we can see that both the number of reinstated disputes is increasing, and that's actually the number we looked at previously on the Board Staff one, but also it seems that the proportion of instances in which charges are being credited back to the customer is increasing as well, and I am wondering if you can help me with any thoughts on why we are seeing this and if what this is showing is that customers seem to be increasingly right with respect to their disputed charges or if that's not the case.  What are we seeing here?

MR. FOSTER:  In our experience that's in the communications between the biller and the customer.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you don't have any more insight on that.  Those are the numbers that we see, but obviously a lot of the relationship is between the biller and the customer, and you have provided the data you have, but you don't have more information as to why we may be seeing that?

MR. FOSTER:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thanks.

Ms. Lynch, a couple of questions for you.  Mr. Stevens took you through Board Staff's initial submission or proposal or what-have-you, and we don't have that in our compendium, actually, and I don't necessarily think we need to pull it up, but I think it's a fair to say you weren't necessarily taken with some of our suggestions.

But I want to put the question to you a little bit differently, and that is, broadly speaking, I think we could categorize disputes about charges into two categories, and one may be cases where a customer feels that an individual charge on their bill is incorrect and they want to have it fixed, and that may be -- it doesn't matter what it is.  They get a bill for $50 from EnerCare and they say, no, it was only supposed to be 40, so we would like that corrected.  And I see that as one type of dispute.

But another type of dispute, maybe a customer says, I don't want EnerCare on my bill at all.  It's not that I think the charge is necessarily wrong, although that may be a sub-issue, but they do not any longer want to receive their bill from EnerCare or any other biller on the Enbridge bill.

So I think you provided us with a helpful response with respect to the first situation and why you didn't think Staff's idea was superior to yours.

But let me focus on the second one.  What does happen if a customer calls up Enbridge and says, I don't want to have EnerCare on my bill anymore, on my Enbridge bill?

MS. LYNCH:  Currently in that situation we would have the customer call the biller and let them know their preferences.  Under our proposed proposal here we are recommending that we would log that as a dispute, and in that case if it's not resolved then it would be removed from the bill within 15 days.

MR. MILLAR:  And by "removed" you don't mean the individual charge, you mean remove EnerCare totally from the bill going forward.  I don't mean to pick on EnerCare, Mr. Duffy, just, they are the ones who are in the room.  But any biller, if somebody calls you up and says, I want them off the bill, you refer them to EnerCare, and then if it's not resolved within 15 days you would take them off the bill permanently.

MS. LYNCH:  We would take off the items that they are specifically identifying that they do not want on their bill.  There could be a case where they would have multiple parties on the bill or multiple charges from a particular biller, so we would be logging the dispute related to the charges that they have identified.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But just to make sure I understand, let's imagine a customer that gets a single service from EnerCare, single line item on their bill from EnerCare.  They call you, they say, we do not want to receive this on our bill at all going forward.  What you would do is you would relay that to EnerCare, they would have 15 days to sort it out, but if they were not able to do so and the customer was still of the view they don't want them on the bill, you would remove that charge from the bill not just for that billing period but on a going-forward basis as well?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So in other words, if the customer does not want a third-party biller on the bill, subject to a 15-day waiting period, essentially, they can have them removed from the bill?

MS. LYNCH:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And no other questions asked?

MS. LYNCH:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Madam Chair, I think those are my questions.  Thank you very much, panel.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Garner.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  Well, I am ready to go, Madam Chair, but that went so fast.  My printed compendium is waiting downstairs nicely Cerloxed and everything.  I do not mind going forward if you can live without it.  I am not going to refer to a lot of it in any event, more with the other two witnesses.

MS. ANDERSON:  I think we are fine going without the written compendium.

MR. GARNER:  And then -- okay.  Then I can proceed.

MS. ANDERSON:  It has been -- it probably should go on the record so we --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, let's mark it, and then we will have hard copies later, so that's K1.3, and that's the VECC compendium. 
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MS. ANDERSON:  I am assuming it will come up on the screen.

MR. GARNER:  I am hoping, thank you.

I want to ask a couple of question first, Panel.  Panel, my name is Mark Garner.  I am with the Vulnerable Energy Consumer Coalition, and we are a consumer group.

I want to ask a few questions about, first of all, about the CPA, the current way of doing it with the CPA and non-CPA related disputes that you have.

I believe we asked you some questions about what's a CPA related and what's a non-CPA type of related thing, and you helpfully gave us some examples.

But under the current situation, what I wonder, or I am asking is when you get -- well, first of all, I guess I would ask this.  Who determines inside of Enbridge what is a CPA versus non-CPA related dispute?  How is that determined and by whom?

MR. FOSTER:  In the current process, if a customer phones us, it's the CSR who is making the determination based on the training they have received and they're help documents.  If a customer is to log a dispute online, there's logic built in that determines the 15 or 45 days, based on the reason they select for their dispute.

MR. GARNER:  So for a live person, so to speak, there's some training provided to that person in order to make that distinction?

MR. FOSTER:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  When you determine that the Consumer Protection Act, in your view, may have been violated, who do you report that to?  Do you make a report to the ministry, a government ministry on that?

MR. FOSTER:  No, we don't report it to them.

MR. GARNER:  Why not?  To jump in, just to give you an example, if you see someone tampering with one of your meters, would you report that to the authorities?  And I am just sort of saying in the same thing, when you find someone and you believe breaking a provincial law, would you not report that to the authorities?

MR. FOSTER:  So to answer your last question, yes, we would report meter tampering.

In terms of an alleged CPA violation, we are only getting the information on the phone.  There's no way to confirm that it is, in fact, a CPA violation and that's why it has the shorter time frame for that type of dispute to be resolved.

MR. GARNER:  Do you make a report to the Ontario Energy Board as to the number of reports that are CPA relates, to give them a sense of a biller who may have a history, or who even just gets one?

MR. FOSTER:  We don't do that today.  However, it is included in our evidence in this proceeding.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, included in what way?  What do you mean?  Are you proposing something that I've missed?

MR. FOSTER:  No, sorry, it's included in the evidence in this proceeding in answers to interrogatories.

MR. GARNER:  Oh, I see.  I want to ask you a related question about that and about this.  You have an audit function of OBA billers, do you not?  Maybe you can just start by explaining if you do, and what's the purpose of that audit function of your OBA biller, just briefly?

MR. HASAN:  We do use that clause.  If you get an escalated complaint, usually through our ombudsman office, that there is a serious violation or a misrepresentation, we go and we use the audit rights.  We ask the biller to provide us a copy of the customer services agreement, and the call recordings that they have on record for the confirmation of the charge.

MR. GARNER:  Do you do any sort of analytics where, if a particular OBA biller is attracting a lot of disputes, that you would instigate some form of audit to try and understand any problems with that OBA biller?

MR. HASAN:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  How many of these audits have you ever done?

MR. HASAN:  In 2019, there has been six investigations that we did and -- yeah.

MR. GARNER:  What's generally the -- maybe there isn't a general answer.  What's generally the outcome of an audit, in the sense if you find there is an issue, as opposed to an audit where you find there's no issue and it's resolved that way.  But if you find an issue with an OBA biller, what is the typical sorts of actions you take?

MR. HASAN:  What we generally do if there is a problem with the biller, we connect with the biller.  If we see that it's a serious violation, we issue them a strike.  Or if we see that it's a violation of any item that is outlined in section 8.7(d) -- sorry, 8.7(e), we can issue them a strike.  We can issue them a -- depending on the seriousness of the issue, we can issue them an admonishment letter.  We can stop taking their charges.  So there is a number of things that we can do, and we have done.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  Now in my compendium at tab 5, and then the page below which is PDF page 19, you provided statistics on the disputes as a percentage of the bills and, you know, et cetera.

And I asked in this one about the accounts with multiple disputes.  And if you look at that interrogatory, you will see a table that says -- and we'll pick a year, it doesn't matter which one.  In 2014, you have 14,757 total accounts with one dispute.

And then if you go below on the next page, 2 of 2, you will see 5,246 accounts with multiple disputes.

I was trying to interpret the table a bit and what this is trying to tell me.  When you have multiple counts of disputes, does that mean you could have an account where a customer contacts you three or four times a year.  That's a multiple type of dispute?

It's not just twice.  It could be any number of times that a customer calls in.

MR. FOSTER:  So in the instance where there's accounts with multiple disputes, it typically would be multiple products.

MR. GARNER:  I see, so --


MR. FOSTER:  With the current reinstatement process, so if a dispute's been resolved and the customer calls back and says they didn't agree with the resolution, we reinstate that same dispute so it has the same case ID.  So when we are looking at multiple -- accounts with multiple disputes, it's typically multiple products.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So what I was trying to understand -- and maybe you can help me understand this -- is do you keep track of a customer who calls multiple times about an issue regardless of the product, the customer themselves has contacted you in separate periods but multiple times?  So one year they contact you and eight months later they are back contacting you.

Do you keep any track of a customer who is having maybe an ongoing issue with an OBA biller?

MR. FOSTER:  We don't have tracking if a customer calls multiple times specific to OBA.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.

If you go to tab 6 -- we don't really need the interrogatory, but if you go to tab 6, I asked you a question about what I thought was part of the agreement where my understanding was that the company was to notify you -- a biller was to notify you when they had a dispute with their customer.

Is that what -- you will see in the question I have reproduced that.

Is that what that means?  A biller is to notify you when they are in a dispute with a customer?

MR. FOSTER:  That's correct; that's what that means.

MR. GARNER:  So in response to my question you said no biller has ever notified you they are in a dispute with their customer?

MR. FOSTER:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  You think that's a reasonable outcome?  Do you think it's reasonable that no customer has had a billing dispute with, let's say EnerCare, a mass provider of water heaters in Ontario?  They have never contacted you?

MR. FOSTER:  There could be disputes that aren't related to OBA.

MR. GARNER:  But any billing dispute with a water rental biller.  So your suggestion to the Board and to me is that of all of the rented water heaters by Reliance, let's say, and Enersource, the two largest, they wouldn't have a dispute with a customer that wouldn't be billing-related?  Sorry, I am a little confused.  Maybe I am not seeing what that term is supposed to be meaning in reporting, but...

MR. FOSTER:  We certainly expect there would be disputes between customers and billers, and it would -- the biller can work with the customer when they contact them and have that resolved.

MR. GARNER:  Well, for sure, and that's part of my confusion.  So here's my confusion.  It looked like the agreement basically says -- and I will take EnerCare -- when EnerCare has a dispute they should notify you.  So even a customer who, you know, knows EnerCare and knows the product and is phoning up EnerCare saying, hey, this is -- you are billing me for a CV 50 but I have a CV 40, could you change that, what it seems to me that provision says, well, then now EnerCare has to contact you and tell you they have a billing dispute, which seems cumbersome to me, but nonetheless it seems to be there.  I am just trying to figure out is that true or not.

MR. FOSTER:  So we expect in instances where the biller has resolved it with the customers that they are sending us information to update the billing through the automated system.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  The reason I ask for this one -- and it just seems to me I am wondering about if the Board were to modify this -- it seems to me the intent of this might have been at one time that matters of seriousness that might affect you should be reported to you so that when the customer calls you you will be aware, so to speak, but the provision doesn't seem to read like that.

So I just sort of invite you to comment on that.  Was that the purpose of the provision?  It wasn't to getting EnerCare's business, which is resolving their customers' issues the way they can do it; is it?  Sorry to use EnerCare, but they are down the street here, so...

MR. FOSTER:  It would be our expectation that they are resolving the dispute and communicating that to us.

MR. GARNER:  All disputes?  So if the Board were to ask you for a report, saying provide us a report of all the disputes that EnerCare has notified you to, which would then, I guess, be all the disputes they are having with billing irrespective of if they ever reach your call centre or not?

MR. FOSTER:  Any resolutions or billing changes would be sent to us through the automated files.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, I am going to move on.

You talk about complaints and we see lots of numbers and percentages, and I think the number roughly that I see as a percentage of customers is somewhere around 1.9 -- call it 2 percent just to round it, a 2 percent number.

But I am curious.  Do you tag calls for how many calls you get where the customer is simply inquiring as to what this is on the bill, and in fact starts the conversation out with Enbridge, I don't think you should be charging me this?  Confusion.  Do you track how many people basically call you initially and you have to tell them this isn't us?

MR. FOSTER:  No, we do not.

MR. GARNER:  And why not?

MR. FOSTER:  For our purposes, we just track whether the call is related to open bill in any way.

MR. GARNER:  So you're not interested in understanding the level of knowledge of your customers as to OBA billing?  It's of no importance to you, their frustration and confusion perhaps with what this billing is doing?  You just want to take the money home?  You are not interested in whether they care?

MS. LYNCH:  I don't think that's a fair characterization.  We have a comprehensive dispute process in place for the purpose of dealing with any concerns that are brought to us specific to the OBA program.

MR. GARNER:  But I am talking a little bit differently, and I am not trying to be facetious.

I am trying to understand what efforts do you put into trying to understand the customer's level of satisfaction with the billing program, as opposed to any particular dispute?  Do you anything that is doing that?

MR. STEVENS:  I am sorry to intrude, and I am sure we are all pleased that we are well ahead of the schedule.  But I am struggling to understand how Mr. Garner's questions relate to the unsettled items in the proceeding versus a broader examination of the good and bad and indifferent of the OBA program as a whole.

MR. GARNER:  I am quite surprised at that.  I would think if customers -- and you're telling us that you have monitored your customers and they are happy with the program.  I guess that might be an argument to say maybe you don't need such strict requirements on the customer.

If you are doing nothing to understand your customer's satisfaction, it seems to me that is an argument for doing a much more stringent customer control of what happens at the phone.  So quite frankly, I am quite surprised at that position.

Now, if Enbridge is doing nothing, which they say they are doing nothing in that way, we can move on.

So the next thing I want to talk about is the billing codes --


MS. ANDERSON:  Did you wish to respond, Ms. Lynch?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  I will note that we do do different levels of customer satisfaction.  That is a very important piece for us.  You will note in the VISTA evidence that there is a report also that shows our surveying of customers with respect to the open bill program.

And again, we do have a dispute process that is in place to deal with concerns that are raised.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  So what you are saying is you do a survey, but you don't do any surveying of your call centre is what I am saying.  You don't do any data from your call centre on it.

You survey, as you say, once a year, whatever you are doing; that's the extent of it?

MS. LYNCH:  There are different elements of customer satisfaction and work that happens with the call centre.  We are here specifically talking about disputes and concerns raised related to the open bill program.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.  I would like to go to tab 3.  This is just -- we could have used, in my compendium, we could have used any of these really.  And you will see it's just a list of all of the OBA billing codes.

And my question here was -- I read in the evidence I think some place that subsequent to this hearing, your intent is to it is down with the OBA billers and, in part, modify this list in order to collapse certain categories that seem to repeat themselves and do some other things; is that right?

MR. HASAN:  Yes, that's right.

MR. GARNER:  And does that include -- I am trying to here get an understanding of what is the OBA program today and does it change tomorrow in the sense of services.  So does that include expansion of those services from what the Board is looking at now?

So the Board looks at this and sees all the OBA programs to date.  Is part of that discussion, you know, including more OBA programs?

MR. HASAN:  Can you please clarify what you mean by more OBA programs?

MR. GARNER:  Okay, yeah, and to be silly, so I have Wine of the Month and I come to you and say, hey, I would like to do that on a monthly billing and that might really help me.  But, you know, that sort of thing and you say yeah, sure, we will put it down on the OBA code and you can put down Wine of the Month on a code and we can add that as a service, right, whatever it is.

Is that an ongoing thing?  So I am trying to understand is the programming moving at all times from what we see in this list?

MR. HASAN:  There is an approval process in place for the bill type code to be requested by the biller.  They have to request it and it has to be an energy-related product.  So if you need to add to this list, they have to go through the approval process.

MR. GARNER:  So it is evolving at all times.  That's correct, right?

MR. HASAN:  That's correct, but we haven't changed it for quite a long time.

MR. GARNER:  Is there a criteria that's used by Enbridge to expand the program?  I see roofing, for instance, which didn't strike me as particularly energy related.  Is there any sort of criteria, or just whatever you figure is working?

MR. HASAN:  Yes.  As I mentioned earlier, it has to be energy-related or home-improvement-related.

MR. GARNER:  Or home-improvement-related.  Thank you. If you could go to tab 8, at tab 8, 1-VECC-6, we asked you could you give us a sample of an OBA report, and you gave us this.  It's obviously made up and it's got some sort of things in it, which is fine.  I mean, it's showing what we want.

I was struck by the report, and you spoke about this -- I think these reports earlier.  And maybe I am a little confused; there are multiple types of reports being made.

But is this what a CSR is filling out when an OBA complaint comes in?

MR. FOSTER:  No, this is the report that's sent to the biller daily.

MR. GARNER:  I see.  And it's basically -- from what I can see, it's basic information about the customer, the product type, and then basically a lot of commentary, which I take the commentary is translated from a CSR or a web input.  Is that how it works?

MR. FOSTER:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  Now, you had talked about, that having a direct approach of the customer, the customer directing how the billing should work, would be more administratively cumbersome, but I am wondering how that is.  Why is that more cumbersome for you?  I believe you say that it's up to -- a customer can contact you up to three times.  Why is that more cumbersome than a customer contacting you once and saying, I don't know who these guys are.  Get them off my bill?

MR. FOSTER:  I am sorry, can you repeat that, please?

MR. GARNER:  Yes, I don't think it's in my compendium, but I could give you a reference.  I think it was in response to HVAC 37, and in there you basically say that you may be in touch with a customer up to three times, I take it verbally or e-mail.  And you're suggesting that moving to a system where the customer has control, complete control, over the bill; i.e., if they call you and say, I don't know what this is, get it off here now, I don't want to see it, that's more cumbersome than the system you have of dispute resolution, where the customer says that they go the biller, the biller comes back to you, and it can be up to three contacts.  Why is the direct approach of the customer more cumbersome than the system you have of dispute resolution?

MS. LYNCH:  The proposal that we've put forward is that the customer would call, and then there would be 15 days, so that 15 days is allowing time where if there is a dispute, a relatively simple dispute, there's the opportunity to make that change that could then happen through the automated process that we have with the biller, as opposed to with the consumer.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, and I was going to ask this, but since you have raised it again, the automated process, can you explain what that means, "automated process"?

MR. FOSTER:  Sure.  So when a customer logs a dispute either by phone or web, as mentioned earlier it gets sent to the biller the next day in a dispute report, then it's between the biller and the customer.  If they come to a resolution the biller is required to e-mail a resolution, and that e-mailed resolution is then picked up automatically overnight and the case is updated with all the information the biller's provided.  Or in the instance where the biller hasn't responded to the dispute and it goes overdue, then that case gets completed, and then our back office takes the necessary steps for those ones to complete the manual transactions required to credit, remove, and block the billing.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  So when you say automated, really what I am hearing is a description of dispute resolution.  And so what I am asking is why is that more cumbersome than a customer who calls you and says, I am in a dispute of some type, I do not want to see this on my bill, and that's the last I am ever going to say about it, and whether I talk to my biller or not is my business, get it off my bill.  That's pretty fast; right?  Bang bing bang, you're done.

MS. LYNCH:  Again I would say that the process we are proposing would -- as is shown in the past, we have had 80 to 94 percent of disputes that are resolved in the discussions between the biller and the customer, so that's allowing those resolutions to happen.  To the extent that they are not resolved, then it would automatically be removed after the 15 days.

MR. GARNER:  And when you say "resolved", because they are not your customer in this case, they are the customer of the OBA, the customer's satisfaction with that resolution is totally unknown to you; is it not?

MR. FOSTER:  We would see that when we get calls for reinstatements if they are not happy with the -- or don't agree to the resolution.

MR. GARNER:  Can I ask you a question on when the customer calls you and you hold the billing, you say you hold the billing, does the amount still stay on the bill?  So I still see it?

MR. FOSTER:  That's correct, and that's one of the reasons we, in our proposal, we have proposed 15 days, as in most cases they may see it once more, but in a lot of cases they wouldn't see it again, whereas in the current process they could see it on potentially up to three bills.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  I see what you are saying.  45 days would see too many bills.

Now, I want to ask you a question about it being administratively burden -- let's suppose it is just for a minute.  You started your introduction with the $5.3 million built into rates on this, but that's not what the OBA program brings in, that's what's built into rates; correct?

MS. LYNCH:  That is the ratepayer benefit that is built into our Enbridge Gas rate zone rates.

MR. GARNER:  So if there's an additional cost to doing something with these customers, then that just comes out of your bottom line for this program?  If it costs you more to run the program, how does that work?

MS. LYNCH:  Any changes to the program will impact the costs of the program.

MR. GARNER:  But what I am asking is do they affect your bottom line on the program?  Is there a cost to Enbridge of increased costs of administrating the program?

MS. LYNCH:  As I noted, any changes to the costs of the program would impact the financials.  I will note that that has all been provided in response to OEB Staff interrogatory 3.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I want to talk about, now, one specific type of complaint and customer that you may get.  And you will see from our compendium we have extracted a story that goes to this.  First-time customers, new accounts, do you track new-account complaints with OBA billers?  Your new accounts, not their new accounts.  A new account for you.  Do you track that?

MR. FOSTER:  We don't track specifically first-time customers.

MR. GARNER:  So are you aware of the situation when, for instance, a new account might inherit, for instance, a water tank as part of a home purchase agreement?  Are you aware of those type of situations?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  So there might or might not be an assignment of that purchase agreement to that contract.  Do you do any validation of that?

MS. LYNCH:  It is noted in our OBA contract that the expectation of billers is that all charges that they are putting on the bill have customer agreements.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  So the OBA biller makes the assumption there's an assignment, you also make the assumption there's assignment, unless and until the customer would contact you?

MS. LYNCH:  We are not making an assumption around the assignment.  We are, as noted in section 7.1(d) of our OBA contract, that billers are expected to ensure that charges that they are putting forward are within their customer service agreements.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you, panel, for your help and thank you, Madam Chair, for your time.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  We will take the morning break for twenty minutes.  So shortly after 11:20 by that clock, and we will be back with Mr. Ladanyi.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:00 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:25 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.  Thank you.

Mr. Ladanyi, I think you're next.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Ladanyi:

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Good morning panel, my name is Tom Ladanyi.  I am consultant representing Energy Probe.  Energy Probe is a public-interest group that has been active in OEB proceedings for over 30 years.  Energy Probe supporters are residential and small commercial customers.

Now, I don't have a compendium because I had hoped to ask only a few general questions that might not require reference to any documents.

Now, this morning in examination in-chief we heard your positions on the two unsettled items, and the first unsettled item is what control should OBA customers have over the addition, removal, and reinstatement of third-party charges on their Enbridge Gas bill through the OBA services, and Energy Probe's position is that customers should have complete control over the addition, removal, and reinstatement of third-party charges on their Enbridge Gas bill, and our position is that no charge of any kind from third parties should be on the Enbridge Gas bill without specific prior written authorization by means of a signed contract between the customer and third party.

And I understand from your evidence this morning that you disagree with this because you find this process to be, if I am right, administratively burdensome; is that right?  So that's your main objection to doing what Energy Probe suggests?

MS. LYNCH:  Just for clarity, I want to confirm that the expectation that Enbridge Gas has through our OBA contract is that billers are only putting through charges where they have a customer agreement in place.

MR. LADANYI:  Right.  But you mentioned burdensome, and I want to explore with you exactly what does burdensome mean and who determined burdensome, so let's start with this.  Does Enbridge outsource its customer-care function to another party or is it all performed by Enbridge's own employees?

MS. LYNCH:  Enbridge does outsource our call-centre work to a third party.

MR. LADANYI:  Correct.

MS. LYNCH:  We do complete other work internally related to this program.

MR. LADANYI:  So did you consult with the third party and ask them whether what was being proposed as item -- to unsettled item number 1, how that would be handled and how they would handle it?  To what extent did you consult them?

MS. LYNCH:  We did not specifically consult related to this particular item.  I will note that in the discussion about additions we are talking about 800,000 transactions that can happen in a given year, and as I noted earlier, to be having customer authorizations around 800,000 transactions would be administratively burdensome.

MR. LADANYI:  But the termination of administratively burdensome was done without any consultation with the party that is actually doing your administration; is that right?

MS. LYNCH:  We know that any changes that we would make would create an additional element of administration required.

MR. LADANYI:  Correct, and I don't want to belabour this, but the decision that -- or the determination that it would be burdensome was kind of arrived in the consultation between you three people or somebody else, or who decided this?  Who came up with this conclusion?

MS. LYNCH:  We have worked together to review the number of transactions that happen through the program and, as I have noted, feel that the processing of over 800,000 transactions would be administratively burdensome, in our opinion.

MR. LADANYI:  Did you consult at all with the executive management team of Enbridge?

MS. LYNCH:  We did not specifically talk about that item.

MR. LADANYI:  Can you tell me why you didn't?  Did you consider this to be a minor issue that you didn't want to raise with them or was there some other reason?

MS. LYNCH:  No, I wouldn't term it a minor issue.  But I do have accountability for the overall management of the program and, through our review, knowing the costs of the program, it would be a significant change to add that level of administration.

MR. LADANYI:  So was there ever any analysis prepared to cost the impact of item number 1 if you had to comply with it or to analyze it in some other way?  Is there a written report or anything that you can point to or was it entirely done mentally?

MS. LYNCH:  We did not complete a written report on that item.

MR. LADANYI:  So it's just a matter of opinion.  That's where we are.

MS. LYNCH:  It's a matter of review based on our experience with the cost of running the program.

MR. LADANYI:  Now, you have proposed an alternative process, is that right, in your examination-in-chief this morning?  Would that be in response to item number 1 or item number 2?

MS. LYNCH:  In response to unsettled item number 1 we have proposed a change to our dispute resolution process.

MR. LADANYI:  What I gather from your proposal that it would be less burdensome; is that right?  Than even the current process?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. LADANYI:  Now, does less burdensome have an impact on the cost of the services that you pay to your provider of customer-care services?

MS. LYNCH:  Any changes that we make to the program would have an impact on the services provided by the third party.

MR. LADANYI:  So there's a possibility that your proposed proposal would actually create a saving and that saving would actually go to the bottom line of the OBA program?

MS. LYNCH:  The process that we're proposing is essentially the same process that we have now with an aligned timing for resolving the disputes to 15 days.

MR. LADANYI:  So it would not have any actual saving in cost, it would just be some kind of timing -- do I get
-- your answer is no or yes?  I am trying to interpret it.

MS. LYNCH:  We don't expect it would be considerably different than the costs today.

MR. LADANYI:  So there will be no material impact on costs?

MS. LYNCH:  Based on our proposal.

MR. LADANYI:  But you have not done any analysis.  This is only based on your kind of discussion that you might have had between the three of you?  Let me put it this way.  Did you discuss your proposal with your service provider?

MS. LYNCH:  No, we did not.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Now let's move on to point number 2, unsettled item number 2.  And unsettled item number 2 is:  What restrictions, if any, should be placed on billing OBA customers for penalties, exit or termination fees, or similar charges through the Enbridge Gas bill?

And my client's position is there should be absolute prohibition on billing OBA customers for penalties, exit or termination fees, or similar charges through the Enbridge Gas bill.

I will not read the rest of our submission, which is in our document.

I understand you disagree with this; is that right?  You feel there should be charges and penalties on the OBA bill?

MS. LYNCH:  As I noted earlier, our current agreements do contemplate that these charges could be placed on the bill.

MR. LADANYI:  One of the words you used when you discussed it this morning, and I think it's also in some of your documents, is the word balanced, that you feel you wanted to have a balanced approach to this issue, and particularly when discussing the proposals per HVAC and VISTA.  Can you tell me what you mean by the word balanced?

MS. LYNCH:  I had referenced balance in respect to the dispute process, in that when he wanted to have a process that allows the opportunity for billers and customers to resolve disputes before removing the charges from the bill.

MR. LADANYI:  Who does the balancing?  Is it in somebody's opinion in Enbridge that the balancing happens?  Where is the balancing occurring?

MS. LYNCH:  I would say balance is for all parties.  So from a customer perspective, customers have indicated that they like the convenience of the ability to have charges on one bill.  From a biller perspective, there's the ability to resolve the charges before they are removed.

And from our perspective, we are looking for a proposal that creates that opportunity, but at the same time does not change the administrative part of the program.

MR. LADANYI:  Everything you have said to me just now in response to my last question indicates that everybody wants to have charges on the bill.  Even customers love the convenience of having these charges on the bill.

And I put to you that actually that is -- that might be an opinion of yours, but it's not shared by a large number of customers.  They don't like these charges on their bill and I think, as you can see it from the submissions of parties that represent customers, they do not want those charges.

So where is the balancing occurring?  If you believe that everybody wants the charges on the bill, who are you balancing between?

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Ladanyi, we are not going to change the fact that the OBA program is going to continue.  That decision has been made.

MR. LADANYI:  No, no, I am not arguing about that.  I am arguing about their decision to continue the charges penalties on the bill, which is item number 2.  That is what I am dealing with here entirety.

I am not trying to terminate the bill.  We have already agreed in the settlement that the OBA continues to the end of the rebasing term.

MS. ANDERSON:  The question is specifically related to the penalties on the bill?

MR. LADANYI:  Absolutely, to the penalties on the bill.

MS. LYNCH:  I would like to point to a couple items.  First would be the evidence provided by VISTA that does contain the survey results related to customers' interest in the program, and does outline the value that they see in the convenience of having open bill charges on our Enbridge bill.

MR. LADANYI:  I am not specifically arguing about open bill charges in general.  I am talking only about penalties.

MS. LYNCH:  I would then take you to EnerCare 5.  In our interrogatory response to EnerCare, again we note the number of buyout or post contact charges that are put through the program, the number of disputes and the percentage that are resolved.

So looking at this, it does indicate that having these charges on the bill, even if they are disputed, there is resolution to that dispute.

MR. LADANYI:  Does Enbridge have copies of contracts, and I think your answer is no -- can I have your attention, yes.

Does Enbridge have copies of all the contracts that billers have with customers?  I understand you don't have copies.  In fact, you don't have any, do you?

MS. LYNCH:  No, we don't have copies of them.

MR. LADANYI:  So when there is a dispute, I understand the OBA agreement is that the biller has to provide you with a copy of the contract; is that correct?

MR. FOSTER:  That's not correct.

MR. LADANYI:  No?  Okay.  Can you explain too me then what happens if there is a dispute and there is an issue about what is in the contact, they don't have to provide you a copy of the contract?

MR. FOSTER:  We certainly don't request a copy of the contract for all 25 to 26,000 disputes annually.  If there is a claim of misrepresentation from the customer that something's misrepresented in the contract, or there is a misrepresentation, we will certainly ask for the contract and the call recording, verification recording.

MR. LADANYI:  I understand from your response, and I don't have to take you there, that in cases of CPA disputes, part 4 of the CPA requires that the supplier provide a copy of the customer agreement to the consumer. Does it only to the consumer.  It does not provide it to Enbridge, is that right?

MR. FOSTER:  That's right.

MR. LADANYI:  So then the customer obtains the contract and if the customer is referring to a contract and provision, an item in the contract, and raises the issue with you, you do not -- you actually don't see the contract, you never get to see the contract?

MR. FOSTER:  That's true, only in the instances where we request the contract from the biller.

MR. LADANYI:  From the biller, okay.  There will be issues where you are resolving some disputes without ever seeing the contract; is that correct then?

MR. FOSTER:  Just to clarify, you mean -- when you say resolving the dispute, you mean the resolution that's coming from the biller?

MR. LADANYI:  The resolution, obviously there is resolution coming from the biller.  Does somebody at Enbridge say, oh, that resolution looks fine?  Or is it just rubber stamped by Enbridge?  What is your role in this, if any?

MR. FOSTER:  We are providing the tracking systems, the disputes between the biller and the customer.

MR. LADANYI:  You are kind of just a scorekeeper.  You are not actively -- a few minutes ago, you discussed balance and I am just wondering are you actually providing any kind of decision making whatsoever, or is it just kind of automatic and whatever, tick the box and the computer says it's fine?

MR. FOSTER:  We are providing a comprehensive dispute Process.  But, yes, the conversation is between the customer and the biller in determining in the resolution.

MR. LADANYI:  Are you at some kind of like an emcee on the discussion between the customer and the biller?  What is your input?  I am trying to understand.

MR. FOSTER:  As we have discussed earlier, the customer submits a dispute, we send a daily dispute report to the biller, and it's between the biller and the customer at that point.

MR. LADANYI:  So you are sort of transferring information from one party to another?

MR. FOSTER:  That's correct.

MR. LADANYI:  Now, Mr. Garner earlier asked you a few questions about disputes that are related to the Consumer Protection Act and those that are not, and that's all in evidence, and there is a fast-tracking of the CPA disputes and there is a slow-tracking of the non-CPA disputes, and I accept that as being evidence.  I am more interested in the situation first, number one, who decides that it is a CPA dispute?  Is it a customer-service representative who receives this information from the customer on the phone?  Who decides what is what?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes, that's correct.  As we answered earlier, it's the customer-service representative who -- if it's a phone call, or there's logic built into the website based on the reason that the customer chooses when they submit their own dispute.

MR. LADANYI:  Is it possible that sometimes the CSR, customer-service representative, makes an error and wrongly logs this as a CPA or non-CPA dispute?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes, that can happen.

MR. LADANYI:  So what happens in those instances?  Number one, who decides that a mistake was made?

MR. FOSTER:  In most cases the dispute process, whether it's 15 days or 45 days, will follow the original, what it's been classified as originally.

MR. LADANYI:  But you said there was some cases where there was a mistake and it should have been the other, should have been -- for example, the CSR might have logged a particular dispute as being a non-CPA when in fact it was a CPA.  What happens in those instances?

MR. FOSTER:  If it's found, the due date would be updated.

MR. LADANYI:  And you would then, what, let the biller know that now this dispute has been fast-tracked?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes, they receive the dispute report daily with any updates that are made to any of the active cases.

MR. LADANYI:  And then you follow up with them?  Let's say deadline approaches and then you say to them, have you resolved this; is that what you do?

MR. FOSTER:  No.

MR. LADANYI:  You don't do that.

MR. FOSTER:  They use the due dates that are on their daily dispute report.

MR. LADANYI:  So you are not actually monitoring if they are complying with the due dates.

MR. FOSTER:  Yes, we do monitor if they are complying with the due dates.  If they have not resolved the dispute by the due date, the day after the due date, our back-office team is manually completing those cases and crediting the disputed charges, removing the product, and blocking the billing.

MR. LADANYI:  Can you tell me, since you mention the back office, is the back-office provider the same as the provider of the customer-care services?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes, it's the same third party.

MR. LADANYI:  Same third party.  So Enbridge itself is not communicating with the back office, back office is doing this on its own; is that right?  So your input is only training of back-office staff.  Is that what it is?

MR. FOSTER:  We speak to the back-office team at Accenture pretty much on a daily basis, as well as with regular meetings.

MR. LADANYI:  I could be wrong there, and perhaps my information is incorrect.  Isn't back office outside the country, outside of Canada?

MR. FOSTER:  We have back-office operations both in Canada and outside of the country.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  I won't follow up there anymore.  It's an interesting concept.

I just want to cover one more area, which has to do with termination charges for the water heater rentals.  So the majority, as I see it from the numbers represented this morning, all the disputes have to do with water heater rentals.

Am I assuming correctly that a lot of people who have disputes about the water-heater rentals have issues with the charges for removal of the rented water heater?  From my understanding what is going on in marketplace, a lot of customers are switching to a tankless water heater, which is owned by the customer, so there is a fair number of removals of rental water heaters; is my understanding correct?

MR. FOSTER:  We are not able to comment on marketplace practices.  However, in terms of the number of disputes or if customers aren't happy with that, that information is laid out both with the number of transactions and the percentage of disputes in Board Staff 11.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  I will have a look at it.  I looked at it earlier.

So how would customers know how much they should be charged for removal of a water heater?  What would be their source of information?  Let's say if I was a customer and I wanted to get rid of my rental water heater, which by the way I don't have one, how would I go about this?  I would, what, call the supplier, let's say EnerCare or someone else, and they would then tell me it's going to cost you $1,500 to terminate this water heater contract, and I would then say, well, this is a lot of money, I really think this is exorbitant, I can go to a supplier and buy a new one for less money, so can you explain to me how would customer know what is the proper amount or who would be the source of this information for the customer?

MR. FOSTER:  Obviously we are not in that business, so it would be up to the customer to do the research, and our expectation would be they would talk to their service provider that they are receiving their equipment from.

MR. LADANYI:  But then the biller would place that charge for the removal on the customer's bill and the customer would not be happy with it and it would be up to the customer to get whatever information they can from the biller?

MS. LYNCH:  Again, I would say these are agreements between billers and customers for the charges and the terms of their agreements.

MR. LADANYI:  So then the customer phones the biller, and I understand from the evidence in this case that there are many situations -- in fact, I would think probably maybe as many as half the customers do not actually have signed agreements, rental agreements.  So if there is a dispute do you enter anything into it in any way or is it just going to be between the biller and the customer?  Do you review -- if there is rental agreement, for example, do you review the rental agreement and see if these are appropriate charges?  What is your role?

MR. FOSTER:  It would follow our dispute process.

MR. LADANYI:  Can you just simply tell me in two sentences?  It can't be that complicated.  Do you actually review the contract if there is any?

MR. FOSTER:  Not normally.  It would have to be an escalated case where there was reason for us to review that.

MR. LADANYI:  But normally you don't review any contract, so you would -- just tell me -- I mean, I am getting really to the end now -- what is the escalated case, what would an escalated case be where you would actually get a copy of the contract?

MR. FOSTER:  That would be a very rare occurrence.  Through the normal dispute process, if the customer's contacted us in the current process three times, we would remove the charge off of the bill.  And in our proposal, it would be on the second time, if it wasn't resolved with the biller in the 15-day timeframe.

MR. LADANYI:  At no point in that process do you actually require the contract between the customer and the biller.  Do you actually get to see it, or you don't care what's in the contract?

MS. LYNCH:  Again, as outlined in our OBA contract, our expectation is that billers are putting forward charges that they have as part of their customer service agreements with the customers.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay, these are all my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Mondrow?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good morning, lady and gentlemen.  Is it morning still?  Yes, five minutes.

Madam Chair, I did not provide a compendium.  I have provided through Board Staff the two pieces of evidence that I may refer the witnesses to, both of which they will have and you will have.

One is the Enbridge supplementary evidence which was filed on November 21st in response to PO number 8, so that's kind of the anchor for this phase of the process.  And the second piece is Enbridge's evidence in-chief which was filed the other day, which can be found in Exhibit K 1.1, the Enbridge compendium, if you would like to have that in front of you when I get there, for any purpose.

Can I start by asking, please, we know from the evidence that a customer can dispute a charge by calling Enbridge Gas or online; I think that was in your evidence in-chief.  Am I correct that, for example, my client VISTA could also initiate a dispute on behalf of a customer by contacting Enbridge?

MR. HASAN:  Yes, they can, if they have the agency agreement with us.

MR. MONDROW:  How do they do that?

MR. HASAN:  The biller has to have express written approval from the customer for agency.

MR. MONDROW:  You don't ask for that, though, right?

MR. HASAN:  Yes, the biller has to provide that.

MR. MONDROW:  They do have to provide that to you?

MR. HASAN:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Do they do that by way of email?  Is that how that works?

MR. HASAN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  So you get an e-mail from the biller, it attaches their express agency authorization, and then you action that in your process?

MR. HASAN:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And right now it's either a CPA or non-CPA track, which has different time periods.  But what your proposing is that going forward, there would only be one track which would have a 15-day time period.

And the consequence of that, as I understand it, would be if the dispute is not resolved -- and I am going to get to what resolved means in a minute or two -- but if the dispute's not resolved within the allotted time, 15 days, the charge is removed from the bill, credited back to the customer, charged to the biller so Enbridge can recover it, and blocked from future reinstatement.  Is that right?

MR. HASAN:  Yes, that's right.

MR. MONDROW:  If after the 15 days, the biller reports that the dispute has been resolved, can they put that charge back on the bill?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, they can.  But as mentioned earlier, in that circumstance they would need to provide -- or need to receive express from the customer that they have agreed to the charges on the bill.

MR. MONDROW:  And that would be done in a similar fashion to the way VISTA could initiate a complaint or dispute originally that the biller would email to you or transmit to you electronically a copy of this authorization?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, that could be one approach.  But as we mentioned earlier, we could explore other options for ensuring that we have the authorization.

MR. MONDROW:  But similar to the VISTA initiated complaint, you would want -- someone at Enbridge would look at a file to determine whether the authorization had been provided to reinstate that particular charge.

That's the idea, right?  Subject to negotiation, that's the idea?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  But if -- so I am still on the scenario of the VISTA initiated dispute, I asked you what happens after the 15 days.

But if prior to the 15 days the biller whose charge is disputed tells you that the dispute has been resolved, the dispute comes off and the charge remains on the customer's bill under both the current process and the proposed process, right?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes.  If the resolution from the biller in that case is that the charge continues.

MR. MONDROW:  Right, fair enough.  And how exactly is that communicated to you?

MR. FOSTER:  Sorry, can you repeat that?

MR. MONDROW:  How exactly does the biller -- in the scenario where the biller has resolved with the customer the charge within the 15-day window, how exactly is that resolution communicated to you?

MR. FOSTER:  Through email.

MR. MONDROW:  An email.

MR. FOSTER:  It's like the same process as today.

MR. MONDROW:  It's not in a file or a daily protocol transfer.  It's simply an e-mail from the biller to...


MR. FOSTER:  Yeah, I it's through email.

MR. MONDROW:  And someone at Enbridge gets the email, and then what do they do?

MR. FOSTER:  That process is automated.

MR. MONDROW:  But what does that mean?  I don't understand.

MR. FOSTER:  The emails -- the resolution emails that come in are picked up by the system and the information, so the dispute case is resolved automatically.

MR. MONDROW:  So the system reads whether the dispute has been resolved and if the system detects -- is that like a check in a box?  How does the system read that?  Does it read the word resolved?  Does it look for a particular field to be completed?

MR. FOSTER:  There is a template to be used.

MR. MONDROW:  So in any event, the system will look at this form coming in, this electronic form.  It will see the form says resolved, and then the system will remove the dispute categorization from that charge for that customer.

MR. FOSTER:  It will change the dispute from new or in process to cancelled.

MR. MONDROW:  And bills will then automatically keep going to that customer with the charge put on by the biller?

MR. FOSTER:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So if it's subsequent to the 15-day period that the biller advises you that this dispute has been resolved, do you anticipate an automatic process for that as well?  The same kind of -- there's a template completed, the system reads it and adjusts the customer's billing file?

MR. FOSTER:  Our expectation is that there would be a significantly less volume coming in after the 15 days.  And we would look at what the best process would be if that's what was being implemented.

MR. MONDROW:  Have you given any thought to what that process would be?

MR. FOSTER:  Currently the thought is that it would be reviewed.

MR. MONDROW:  What does that mean?

MR. FOSTER:  A person would review the email.  And just to expand on that, if it's coming in after the due date or the 15 days, at that point in time we've likely already credited the charges, blocked the billing and removed the product.

MR. MONDROW:  So it would not be unlike putting a new charge on the bill, except for this block that you are talking about.  That would have to be dealt with?  Right?  But for the block they could just put a charge back on the bill, but the block would have to be dealt with somehow.

MR. FOSTER:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  I want to talk to you for a couple minutes about this block thing.  How do you block a charge from future reinstatement?

MR. FOSTER:  So each charge has a specific bill type code, and in the system that bill type code is prevented from billing on that customer's account from that biller's ID.

MR. MONDROW:  And so who chooses what bill type code to put a charge through on?  Is that the biller that designates the bill type code?  I know there is a list, but they pick one; right?

MR. FOSTER:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And couldn't the biller whose code is blocked simply pick a different code and put a charge on the bill?

MR. FOSTER:  They would have that ability, yes.  We would expect to likely hear from the customer again in that case.

MR. MONDROW:  Maybe.

I am going to ask you to turn up your supplementary evidence, so this is your November 21st evidence.  And if you go to -- sorry, let me get you the right reference.  It's actually Exhibit -- it's attachment 3 to your supplementary evidence.  It's Exhibit B, tab 2, Schedule 2, attachment 3, page 2.  Thank you.  It's PDF page 21 if you are doing it electronically.  This is a response to a VISTA interrogatory, and it's the response that sets out all of your bill type codes, and then by year it gives disputes for each code for each year from 2014 through 2018.

And I want to look at some of these codes.  So code number 13, 0013, is a water heater code.  And that could be any charge related to a water heater, that would be appropriate to use that code for; right?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And then if we go to charge 0051 and 0052 on the next page, those both say water heater as well.  What's the distinction between those three water heater codes; is there one?

MR. HASAN:  There is no difference between them.  But this is something that we are currently looking at, operationalizing the bill type codes.  Some of the things that we are -- we will be doing in the near future will be to remove duplicates, adding the approval process to the bill type code, so currently if a biller is using a particular bill type code they will be approved for that and they can only use the bill type code that they have been approved.  If they want to use another bill type code they have to get an approval from us, and we will be removing the spares and the ones that have not been used so far so that they cannot be used.  So we are not yet there, but that is the work that we will be doing.

MR. MONDROW:  This is the first I have heard of this approval proposal.  So what do you mean?  Each biller would get a code approved for a particular customer for a particular service or they'd get approved a code that they could use across the board?

MR. HASAN:  Yes, that's right.  They will be approved for the bill type codes and they can bill their customer using only that bill type code that have been approved for them.

MR. MONDROW:  So if VISTA gets approved for new code 001, is that any customer -- any of their customers can be billed under 001 or is it specific to a customer?

MR. HASAN:  That's correct.  They can bill any customer.

MR. MONDROW:  Any customer, okay.  And what do they have to do to get approval for a bill type code, just ask for it?

MR. HASAN:  Yes, so there will be a standard form.  They need to sign that --


MR. MONDROW:  Right.

MR. HASAN:  -- and they need to give it back to us, and then we will see that if that is something that is energy-related and that can be approved we will approach it and let them know that they have been approved or not.

MR. MONDROW:  So what's the point of that?  If they can just get any code approved by asking, what's the point of getting approved?

MR. FOSTER:  I am just going to start by slightly clarifying.  So today, billers have access to use all bill type codes that are available in the OBA manual.  The change would be that billers can only use bill type codes that they are approved to use.

MR. MONDROW:  Yeah, I had understood that.  But I asked what the point of that was.  To get approved they ask you, and you approve them, so what's the objective of approving?  I don't understand.

MR. FOSTER:  That's to ensure that billers are using the bill type codes that they have told us that they will be using.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  What's the significance from the customer's perspective of the bill type code?  I think, Mr. Foster, you said something about if the biller uses a different code a customer might not be happy.

Is there a bill message that goes with a specific code?

MR. FOSTER:  No, what I was saying is if we remove a disputed charge and the biller tries to add it back on with a different bill type code.

MR. MONDROW:  Oh, I see.  The customer would not be happy because the charge is still there.

MR. FOSTER:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Right, okay.

So back to this list of codes, can you look at the bottom of the list, which is page 5 of 5 of the attachment here.  I am looking at code 0125, 0128, and 0129.  They all relate to rentals, and most water heaters are rented, so any of those codes could apply to a water heater; right?

MR. FOSTER:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And can I ask you to go -- this is still in your supplementary evidence.  It's Exhibit B, tab 2, Schedule 3, page 1.  This is where you talk about the exit and termination fees topic.  And you provide a little table there of bill type codes for rental buyout and other post-contract items.

It seems to me that code 48 -- account settlement, rental, other -- could be a rental water heater post-contract charge item, right?  These all are post-contract items, but 48 could be a rental water heater?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  66 could be a water heater?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  125, 127, 130, they could all be water heaters?

MR. FOSTER:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  128 could be a water heater?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  The point of this, Mr. Foster, is that blocking a charge really doesn't protect anyone from anything, because there are all kinds of codes right now that the biller could use to just put the charge back on the bill.

So I don't understand what blocking the charge is going to do.

Sorry, I should have said I don't understand what blocking a code for a charge is going to do.  That's what you propose to do is block that code, but I am struggling to see how that is going to help.

MR. FOSTER:  It's what we propose; it's also what we do today.  I certainly agree that any of those could be used for a water heater.  Our expectation is that when a disputed charge is removed, we wouldn't be seeing the biller put that back in based on the OBA agreement and the OBA manual, and we would hear from the customer again, I am sure.

MR. MONDROW:  I wish everyone was so sure, but okay, that's fine.  Let's go back to the dispute process so I can understand the rest of it, hopefully.

So I think you testified earlier that once a dispute is lodged or recorded, the biller whose charge is disputed is notified and that's through this daily report -- and I think with Mr. Garner you had a look at one of those, an example.

MR. FOSTER:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Clearly, every day the biller gets a report of the status of all of their charges, and those that are subject to dispute are somehow flagged on that report?

MR. FOSTER:  The dispute report is specific to just disputes.  They receive many different reports.

MR. MONDROW:  Is it only new disputes on each report, or is it all outstanding disputes?

MR. FOSTER:  It's all outstanding disputes.

MR. MONDROW:  I think it's already been hashed with you and rehashed that if the biller within the 15-day window under your proposal advices it's okay, we have resolved the dispute, that's what happens.  There's no further verification or investigation of that, the charge is reinstated and unless the customer calls you back, everyone seems to be happy --


MR. FOSTER:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  -- if they report it's resolved.

MR. FOSTER:  If they report it is resolved and the billing continue.  The resolutions can be many different things.

MR. MONDROW:  If the customer does come back, though, and advises you that no, I never agreed to that, that's reported to the biller again, I assume?

MR. FOSTER:  In today's process, or in our proposal?

MR. MONDROW:  Let's start with today.

MR. FOSTER:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And your proposal is if the customer came back a second time, that's when the charge comes off the bill, the credit to the customer if they in fact paid it, blocking of the charge going forward and the biller is presumably advised of that as well.  That's the proposal?

MR. FOSTER:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And then the only way -- if the customer has come back once already, the only way that charge can be put back on the bill under your proposal is for the biller either the customer to authorize it or the biller to authorize it, but provide you with proof that the customer as agreed to that reinstatement of that charge on their bill.

MR. FOSTER:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  I thought from reading your evidence it was the second time, but it's the first, if it comes off -- sorry, if the biller advises it's been resolved and the customer calls again, this is when the only way to have that charge resolved going forward under your proposal is to have the customer authorization?

MR. FOSTER:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And similarly, if the 15 days elapses, the only way to get the charge back on the bill is to have the customer authorization?

MR. FOSTER:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  So the point of all that is that you are hoping that in the 15 days, these minor disputes will be cleared out and the administrative process associated with having the customer authorization, and manually intervening, and blocking the charges won't be as burdensome because the easy one wills be solved and it's only after 15 days, or if the customer calls you again, that you will need this work-around until you reopen your systems at least?

MR. FOSTER:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, got it, thank you.  Now, I suppose it's technically possible that even after the 15 days, the biller could simply put a charge on a different code for that customer, and that charge would go through under your system?

Now, the customer might call again, Mr. Foster, that was your point, but...

MR. FOSTER:  Yes, they could do that.  Our expectation is that they are complying with the OBA agreement.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And presumably, if they did that and you subsequently found out they did that, that would be an offence under the agreement of some sort, in your view?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And the implications of that would be subject to this renegotiation that we are all anticipating is going to happen; is that fair?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes that's fair.

MR. MONDROW:  Am I correct that right now in your current process, there's no limit to the number of times that a charge can be reinstituted on the advice of a biller.  That's what you are proposing to change.  But right now, it could keep happening again and again?

MR. FOSTER:  No.  Today there's, there can be the first -- there's a first reinstatement and if the customer calls back after that reinstatement, so a second reinstatement, we close the case, credit the charges, remove the product.

MR. MONDROW:  Oh, okay.  So the change you are proposing is instead of waiting for the second call from the customer, you will do it after the first call from the customer?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes.  Technically the third, because they have called us the first time -- today they have called us the first time to create the dispute.  If it's been resolved and the customer calls back and says they disagree, the case gets reinstated the first time.

If the biller says it's resolved again and the customer disagrees and contacts us a third time, that's today when we remove the charge.

MR. MONDROW:  That's today.  And in the future, it's the first customer call back that would result in removal of the charge.

MR. FOSTER:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And but for the hope that the first 15 day period is going to weed out a lot of the ones that are easily resolved or miscommunications, there's no reason why you couldn't institute a similar process for the first reinstatement going forward as you're proposing -- reinstatement of the dispute as you are proposing for the second reinstatement.

Sorry.  There's no reason you couldn't use the same process to authorize the first reinstatement of the charge as you are proposing to use for the second reinstatement of the charge.

I am not stating that very clearly.  Let me break it up because it's muddled in my mind now.

So going forward, currently what happens is the customer disputes, the biller advises you it's revolved, that's fine.  The customer calls back again, the biller advises it's resolved and -- sorry, the customer calls back again and that's when the block occurs?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes, that's when the product is removed and credited and blocked.

MR. MONDROW:  Currently.  Yes, okay.  Let me start again.  I am sorry if I am confusing you.  I am obviously confused, so let me start again.

The customer complains.  The biller advises you that the complaint's been resolved, and the customer complains again today.  Can the biller reinstate or not?

MR. FOSTER:  When the customer calls us the second time, the dispute case is reopened and sent to the biller in the daily dispute report.

MR. MONDROW:  And they can reinstate a second time without showing you anything?

MR. FOSTER:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  If a customer calls again, that's when the charge gets removed and the code gets blocked today?

MR. FOSTER:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And the change you are proposing is the charge would get removed and the code gets blocked if the customer calls you back the first time after the biller has advised you that the dispute's been resolved.  That's the change.

MR. FOSTER:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And the 15-day period and the automatic, which we talked about before.

MR. FOSTER:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, thank you, I appreciate it.

MR. FOSTER:  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  Two quick things.  This morning -- and then another area -- this morning -- just so no one gets their hopes up -- this morning in your evidence in-chief you had some discussion about resolution rates being relatively high in your view, which I think, Ms. Lynch, you said means the program's working.

Now, those resolution rates are determined based on billers telling you generally that disputes have been resolved; right?  That's generally how you get notified that a dispute's been resolved, when the biller tells you that.

MR. FOSTER:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  So in the event that those were false reports, that there was a significant number of false reports, that the dispute wasn't in fact resolved, those statistics would be overstated?

MR. FOSTER:  Can I just -- I just want to get some clarity on that question.  Is that that the biller's told us it's been resolved and we don't hear from the customer again?

MR. MONDROW:  Right.

MR. FOSTER:  I am sorry, can you just restate the full question again?

MR. MONDROW:  To the extent that you are relying on billers to advise you that the customer is happy with the charge, we have sorted everything out, to the extent that the billers are not accurately reporting that, the statistics, Ms. Lynch, that you cited this morning about how well the program is functioning are overstated.  If the reports are false then the percentages are too high.  You are struggling because if the customer doesn't come back they end up paying the charge; right?

MS. LYNCH:  So our assumption is that if the customer does not come back that the dispute is resolved.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And I am being a little cute, but to the extent that -- you're agreeing with me, thank you.  To the extent that the customer pays the charge but they are not happy about it, you wouldn't know that.  You just see the charge being paid.

MS. LYNCH:  We would know that.  We just see it as a resolution has been reached between the biller and the customer.

MR. MONDROW:  Right, so what those statistics reflect are instances where the customer is so exasperated they keep at it, but in instances where customers are dissatisfied but they just pay anyway, those statistics don't pick up any of that.

MS. LYNCH:  I don't know that that's an accurate portrayal.  We can't speak to what the interaction would be between the biller and customer in resolving that dispute.

MR. MONDROW:  I am not asking you to accept that what I am saying is accurate, what I am asking to accept is to the extent it's accurate the statistics are overstated.  If customers are dissatisfied but they pay the charges anyway, by definition you are not picking that up in your statistics; isn't that true?

MS. LYNCH:  Unless they raise another dispute, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  So this -- I mean, to be fair, what I am suggesting is the statistics don't necessarily mean that the process works well.  All it means is the charges are getting paid 85 percent of the time.

MS. LYNCH:  I would say not necessarily.  I would say they mean that the biller has indicated that there is resolution.  That resolution could be that the biller has agreed to take the charge off of the bill, adjust the charge.  It could be a number of cases of what the biller may be doing in that circumstance.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Fair enough.

And this morning, I think it was in response to questions from Mr. Millar, I forget which one of you it was, I am sorry, but he took you to a couple of interrogatories and suggested that there is an elevating or an escalating pattern for reinstatement of disputes and trends, and one of you made a comment that in 2019 the number seems to be a little lower so far.  Do you remember who that was.  I wish I did.  Mr. Hasan or Mr. Foster, I think it was.

MR. FOSTER:  Yes, that was me, and recognizing that it is for the January to September period and not a full year.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  Would you agree with me that in the HVAC business sales installations are a very seasonal thing and that the season is really the fall?

MS. LYNCH:  I am sure that there's -- from an HVAC perspective there's different elements that impact the timing of the business.  The thought of heating versus air-conditioning versus other elements could happen throughout the year.

MR. MONDROW:  So Mr. Foster, we could agree that the 2019 number in those tables is pretty provisional.  It only goes through September and not necessarily reflective of the entire year, even proportionately.

MR. FOSTER:  I am not sure if we can make that assumption based on the timing of the disputes.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, which assumption can't we make?

MR. FOSTER:  That there's more in the fall because of the HVAC, that there's more HVAC installations in the fall that would lead to more disputes.

MR. MONDROW:  So are you saying we could take the January to September number, divide it by the number of months elapsed, multiply that by 12, and get the number for the year pretty accurately?  Is that what you are suggesting?

MR. FOSTER:  We would have to look at that.  I don't know the answer to that.

MR. MONDROW:  I am not asking you to look at it.  I'm just -- that's not what you are suggesting at the moment, or is it?

MR. FOSTER:  I am sorry, I don't know the answer to that.

MR. MONDROW:  That's fine, thanks.  So by you don't know the answer to that, what you are saying is you don't know whether that's what you are suggesting or not?

Let me be clear.  What I am asking you, Mr. Foster, is when you referred to those 2019 numbers earlier in discussion with Mr. Millar, were you suggesting that we could simply do a calculation to get a pretty good peg of the full year, and seasonality is not an issue?  Or you just don't know?

It's one of those two answers I am looking for.

MR. FOSTER:  Looking back at the evidence, when I was looking at the 2019 numbers in comparison to the previous years and the reinstated ones, I wouldn't expect that we would have 1400 reinstatements in three months.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, October, November, December, January, four months I guess, right?  Yeah, you are right; three months, my mistake.

Okay.  So your answer to my question is you do believe we can extrapolate from the September to date number to get a good sense of the full year number?

MR. FOSTER:  In terms of reinstatements, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And that seasonality would not be an issue in respect of that statistic?

MR. FOSTER:  That's what I believe, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, thank you.  I'd like to go then to your evidence in-chief, which is probably most easily found in Exhibit K1.1, and I am looking at page 7 of 8 of your evidence in-chief.

And right at the bottom of that page is the question put to you for the purpose of the exchange that's to be reflected in your evidence, and it sets out the question for issue number 2 in this proceeding, which is the end of contract charges.  And then I want to ask you about what you say about that on page 8.

So if you turn to page 8 ...

MS. ANDERSON:  Do you have an ET of how much longer, Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  Probably ten minutes.  I think you wanted to break at ten to 1, if I am not mistaken, for lunch, according to the schedule and I intend o be finished.

MS. ANDERSON:  I think you were scheduled for 40 minutes.

MR. MONDROW:  I was, and I am just at 40 now, I think.  So I will wrap up quickly, if I could have another five minutes or so.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  So in respect of the proposal to preclude post-contract charges, you say there are several reasons for this.  And I am just looking at the reasons and you've set them out here at page 8.

So the first reason is the OBA program contemplates that billers may include any charges allowed under their customer services agreement on to customer bills.  This may include end of contract charges.

So the question I have is why is the current policy in this respect a barrier to changing the policy?

MS. LYNCH:  I don't know that I would categorize it as a barrier.  I think it's -- our point here is that as the service has been offered, it has contemplated that these charges would be allowed as outlined in our OBA contracts.

MR. MONDROW:  And you're proposing in this process to change -- sorry, you are proposing in this proceeding to change some of your processes, right?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, we are.

MR. MONDROW:  Not that one, but some of them.

MS. LYNCH:  Not that one.

MR. MONDROW:  The second reason you say is Enbridge Gas expects that billers would use other means to charge end of contract charges if they were not permitted to be included on the Enbridge Gas bill.

So my first question with that is what are the other means that you are referring to?

MS. LYNCH:  I would say it would be other options that billers have available to them.

MR. MONDROW:  What are those?

MS. LYNCH:  There is a reference in here to using e-transfer, cheques, cash.

MR. MONDROW:  Credit cards?

MS. LYNCH:  I would assume that if a biller has a credit card, that they could.

MR. MONDROW:  No, sorry --


MS. LYNCH:  If a biller has the ability to have charges on a credit card, then they could.

MR. MONDROW:  And why is the existence of other means to collect these charges a barrier to changing your policy?  I would have thought the opposite.

MS. LYNCH:  Again, I wouldn't say it's a barrier to changing the policy.  It's really just an indication that these are charges that a customer would be expected to pay under their agreements.  So our open bill program is one way that they can do that.

MR. MONDROW:  And the third reason you give for opposing the proposal is Enbridge Gas believes that customer convenience and choice is better accommodated by allowing the charges to be included as part of the OBA program, which I take it means essentially, everything else being equal, more customer choice is better?  Is that what you are saying?

MS. LYNCH:  What I am saying there is that the customer can dispute any charge that's on their bill and under our proposal with the 15 days, it would be dealt with within that time frame.

MR. MONDROW:  That's actually not what you are saying there, but what you're -- what you are saying there is customer convenience is better by allowing the charges on the bill; that is more choices for customers to pay their charges is better.

MS. LYNCH:  Maybe I mis-heard your question.  Could you repeat your question?

MR. MONDROW:  I am saying that you give reasons here why post-contract charges should not be adopted, and your third reason is, everything else being equal, more choice for customers is better.  That's how I read that.

MS. LYNCH:  Apologies.  Are you referencing that Enbridge believes that customer convenience...

MR. MONDROW:  Right.

MS. LYNCH:  Apologies.

MR. MONDROW:  That's okay.  That is what you are saying.  More choice is better, everything else being equal?

MS. LYNCH:  We believe this is an option that should be provided to customers, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  The last bullet there is customers will be able to dispute any charges -- which is true now, of course.

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, and it will be dealt with under our 15 day proposal, if accepted.

MR. MONDROW:  Are there any other reasons, other than the reasons we have just talked about, why post-contract charges should not be precluded from the bill?  Or is this it?

MS. LYNCH:  These are the primary reasons from our perspective.

MR. STEVENS:  I think be fair, Mr. Mondrow, we are going to need to understand all the reasons why parties say they should be precluded from a bill, and that may remind us of additional reasons why they wouldn't be.  But based on information we have been provided right now, this is our answer.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Thank you, Madam Chair, that's it.  Thank you very much, lady and gentlemen.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  We will take a one-hour lunch and come back with Mr. Shepherd, then over to you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks, Madam Chair.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:46 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:47 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.

We have had a look at the schedule, and thank you, people, for moving us along.  I guess what we would like to do -- what we are going to today is finish off the Enbridge panel with Mr. Shepherd and the Panel questions and any redirect, take maybe five minutes to get the new panel up and running, and then go straight through without an afternoon break and finish ten to four-ish and then finish off with that panel on the next morning.  We do seem to be a couple hours ahead of time, and it gives -- it kind of puts us back on schedule to where we were, and so that's how we were going to proceed, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I expressed a concern to Mr. Millar and to Mr. Stevens that there were a lot of sidebars in the answers this morning, and as a result a lot of dead time.  I don't know how long the transcript will be, three or four pages, maybe.

I have a cross that is 45 minutes if the questions are answered when I ask them.  I will try my best to make it as short as possible, but if there is a sidebar with every answer, I see no likelihood I would be finished in 45 minutes.  I will try my best.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  If they are relevant and not repeating then, you know, we certainly take into account the time to answer questions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you so much.

And Madam Chair, I have a compendium, which I think copies have been given to you, and it's up on the screen, and copies are at the back of the room if anybody is desperate to read it.  It's all materials that are in the record.  I don't think it has an exhibit number yet.

MS. ANDERSON:  We are just finding it, thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  And Mr. Millar, a number?

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  We are at K1.4.  
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  HVAC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR EGI PANEL 1.


Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:



MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And witnesses, I am pretty sure you all know me, but if you don't, I am Jay Shepherd, and I represent the HVAC Coalition.

I want to start with, you have read the evidence of the HVAC Coalition Mr. Grochmal's evidence?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, I have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the first couple of pages are sort of a description of the history of the program, how we got to where we are today, and I thought it was pretty objective and balanced, but I would ask you to tell the panel if you think that it fairly describes, just not in all the various details, but just in general, how we got here, so that we don't have to talk about that later.

MR. STEVENS:  Perhaps to short-circuit this, Mr. Shepherd, I think you and I have probably been involved in this longer than most of the people in the room.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Except Ian.

MR. STEVENS:  That's right.  And having read through those pages of Mr. Grochmal's testimony at a high level we certainly don't object to the way that things are described.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Another sort of preliminary question.  You were talking about the ratepayer benefit of $5.389 million a year; do you recall that?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, that's not guaranteed.  It's baked into rates but it's not guaranteed; right?

MS. LYNCH:  It relies on the functioning of the program to achieve the ratepayer benefit.  Is that what you are referencing?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, what I mean is that there is a variance account, and if you have additional costs then, subject to eating into your profits to a certain extent, if you have additional costs over and above that it eats into the ratepayer benefit; right?  Through the deferral account?

MR. STEVENS:  I think, to be fair, Mr. Shepherd, for the most part the costs are defined in the agreement in the sense that they are deemed costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are saying if there are additional costs to the -- you're agreeing that the ratepayer benefit is not guaranteed but the only variable is the revenue line?

MR. STEVENS:  The main variable will be the revenue line, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If there are additional costs the company eats them?

MR. STEVENS:  Subject to the way that the settlement agreement describes the cost, subject to any exceptions that may be in there, and none jump to mind for me right now, generally speaking the problem that Enbridge has identified in response to a couple of questions asked is that if the costs of the program go up the only party paying for those costs is Enbridge, because Enbridge's share of the program revenues necessarily goes down.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I am sorry, I am not meaning to cross-examine you, Mr. Stevens, but -- although it's fun, but Enbridge is only getting about a couple million dollars out of this every year, so a cost increase doesn't have to be much before you're not making any money; right?

MR. STEVENS:  As the witnesses mentioned this morning -- and I apologize for giving evidence.  I am just trying to meet your time estimate -- Staff No. 3 sets out the financial results of the program --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  -- and as can be seen in Table 2, Enbridge's share over the last five years using the cost structure set out for this program has never been more than $1.5 million -- I am sorry, it was 1.7 one year and it was as low as 200,000 another.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then you really are at risk that this could be eating into your bottom line if you have additional costs, administrative costs; right?  Let me ask the witnesses.  You really are at risk; right?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, there would be an impact.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  I have one other preliminary question before I get into some of the details, although I am still going to be higher-level than everybody else.

The positions of Enbridge appear from the outside to be very similar to the positions of the large billers, and yet you have the customer groups and the small billers on the other side.  And I am not suggesting there's anything nefarious by that, but I just want to clear up two things.

First, you don't at this time have any corporate relationships with any of the large billers; do you?  You don't have any common ownership, you don't have any partnerships or anything like that with them, right, as far as you know?

MS. LYNCH:  Not that I am aware of.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you're not -- when you're giving evidence today, you are not speaking on their behalf, you're speaking on Enbridge's behalf; right?  So it's noticeable that the people who want the status quo, the large billers, haven't provided any evidence as to why they want it, and so I want to be clear, you are only speaking for Enbridge, not for them?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, we are here representing Enbridge.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And not them?

MS. LYNCH:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.

So if I understand correctly -- well, let me ask the question this way.  Who has the power to decide what goes on a customer's bill from Enbridge?  I mean, obviously Enbridge does, right, first.  You have the power to decide what goes on their bill; true?

MS. LYNCH:  We have the power to decide if we offer the open bill program.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am talking about all the things on the bill.  So you have the power to decide things like gas charges and distribution charges and all that sort of stuff.  You have the power to decide that.  You need Board approval, but you can instruct ABSU, the billing company, to put a charge on the bill and they do it; right?  It's actually not a trick question.

MS. LYNCH:  Well, perhaps I am struggling with the reference to ABSU, but, I mean, we -- it's our bill.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you can put things on it as long as you have Board approval.

MS. LYNCH:  If we have Board approval.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you can't -- except for the open-bill charges, you can't put anything on it that doesn't have Board approval; right?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, everything that would be put on would have Board approval.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then the second category of people who can cause a charge to be put on the bill is the billers under the OBA, right, under the OBA program, and they can instruct you to put something on the bill and you will do so, right, assuming they follow the procedures correctly?

MS. LYNCH:  Our expectation is that those biller charges are complying with our contracts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they don't need Board approval for that.  They don't really need anyone's approval.  They just tell you to do it and as long as they follow the rules, they can do it, right?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, they need to ensure that they are in line with their customer service agreements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there anybody else who can decide what charges go on the Enbridge bill, aside from Enbridge and the billers -- or Enbridge with the Board's approval and the billers?

MS. LYNCH:  Not to my knowledge.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the customers have no say in what goes on their bill, right?

MS. LYNCH:  They would have say whether or not they wanted open bill charges on their bill.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Under the current system?  I thought your evidence was that if they call you up and say I don't want open bill charges on my bill, your answer is go talk to the biller, don't talk to us.  Isn't that right?

MS. LYNCH:  Again, our expectation is that charges that are on the bill, the customer has indicated in their customer service agreement they would like them on their Enbridge Gas bill.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that doesn't answer my question.  If a customer calls you up and says I don't want to pay EnerCare on my Enbridge bill anymore, you say go call EnerCare, right?

MS. LYNCH:  So currently, we would indicate to them to contact the biller to determine what their next steps would be.  Under our proposal, as we discussed this morning, we would log that as a dispute and then it would be addressed through the process as we have outlined.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But then EnerCare can call you up and say no, put it back on?

MS. LYNCH:  If EnerCare has -- if the dispute has been resolved, then they would have the ability to put the charge back on the bill.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  Maybe I am misunderstanding. If they tell you the dispute is resolved, then it goes back on the bill.  It doesn't matter whether it was actually resolved, does it?

MS. LYNCH:  Again, through the automated process, yes, they would be putting it -- they would be indicating that it had been resolved.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Can you go page 11 of our compendium, please?  In this you were asked the question what if somebody calls and says basically what I just said to you, and you gave the same answer, which is call the biller.

And you said -- the question was how many times has that happened and you said you don't know.  But you have a script for it, right?  In your customer care rules, you have a script for it, true, because that's what the script is, right, right here in the preamble?

MS. LYNCH:  Part of the training of the customer service rep is for them to indicate to call the biller.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, and so it doesn't just happen -- it didn't just happen once in the last five years.  It's happened enough times that you have to train them how to handle it, right?

MS. LYNCH:  I would say there's a number of things that would be part of ongoing training of customer service representatives.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, but you done train them how to deal with customers who say I want to order a pizza, because it doesn't happen very often, right?  You train them on the things that they are likely to see.

MS. LYNCH:  We train them on questions that we think could come up through the program.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So you have no way of knowing.  You could have had quite a number of customers that said I don't like paying this stuff on my bill.  But you never follow those instructions, do you?

MS. LYNCH:  Again, as indicated, if a customer does call and say that they would like to have alternate arrangements, then that is an agreement they have with the biller and we ask them to contact the biller.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you go to page 35 of our materials?  You answered the basic question on this before, but I have just one follow-up question.

This is the question where billers have an obligation.  If a customer calls them and says I dispute what you're billing me on the Enbridge bill, the biller has to call You, right?  They are obligated to call you, right, or to let you know?  Isn't that what the agreement says?

MR. FOSTER:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And no biller has ever done that.  I think you said that earlier and I think you say that in the interrogatory response, to which my comment is double wow.

And so you've never investigated, ever, any biller to see whether they should have been reporting disputes, have you, ever?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes.  As far as we are aware, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I ask that question is it appears to me that the whole OBA program, and the agreement that is the centerpiece from the point of view of you and the billers, is built on trust.  Is that right?  You trust the billers to deal with your customers properly, isn't that right?

MS. LYNCH:  Our expectation is that billers are dealing with their customers properly, and that they are following all of the rules and expectations of them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So here's -- you were coming exactly to my next point, which is very good.  It's not their customers, is it?  It's actually your customers.

It's also their customers, but from your point of view, these are your customers and they are your bills, isn't that right?

MS. LYNCH:  It is our bill and it is our customers and the biller's customer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You talked about billers being expected to have signed agreements with their customers.  Now, you don't know how many billers actually have signed agreements, right?

MS. LYNCH:  No, it's our expectation that they do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So 1.2 million customers were transferred to what is now EnerCare in, what, 2001 or 2, something like that.  I can't remember, but somewhere way back.  And none of them had agreements, did they, because they were done by Consumers Gas, which did not use agreements, right?

MS. LYNCH:  I don't know that all of them didn't have Agreements.  I know it was offered under regulated program at the time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And there were no agreements as part of the program?  The program didn't ask customers to sign an agreement to rent their water heater, right?  At least I have never seen one, and I was actually around back then. You probably were not.  

MS. LYNCH:  I don't have that information in front of me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Am I correct that some of those legacy water heaters are actually still out there in the field?  I'd ask EnerCare if I could, but I assume you probably have a good idea.  Is there some non-negligible amount of those water heaters still out in the field?  They'd be old, but...

MS. LYNCH:  There could be some.  I don't have specific information on that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's also true, isn't it, that when what was then Direct Energy was replacing water heaters when they were the only ones on the bill for the first, until, what, 2007 or something, they didn't get new agreements as far as you know?

MS. LYNCH:  I don't know the answer to that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know when it became standard practice for EnerCare and other large billers to start getting signed agreements from customers?  Do you know that?

MS. LYNCH:  I don't have the date for that for when agreements would have been required.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is it fair to assume -- is it fair for this Board to assume that some significant number, maybe half or more, of the existing charges on the Enbridge bill under the OBA program are not supported by a signed agreement -- or an agreement signed by your customer?  Is that a fair assumption?  And if it isn't, can you tell me why you don't think so?

MS. LYNCH:  I would say I can't speak to the frequency with which the water heaters would have been or have been replaced over the past number of years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The things that are not water heaters that are on the bill, many of them are more recent; right?  The vast majority of them would be more recent than those legacy water heaters way back when; true?

MS. LYNCH:  Yes, I would say they would be more recent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's probably fair to say that -- and maybe I am making a leap that I shouldn't -- that it's more likely that those will have a signed agreement than the water heaters; true?

MS. LYNCH:  Again, I would expect that they have agreements, but I don't know the percentage.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have no direct knowledge, okay.

You said last year you did six investigations.  Were any of them investigations to see whether a biller actually had the agreements they said they had?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes, they were.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How many?

MR. FOSTER:  It would have been all six of them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All six of them were -- the reason you investigated was because you doubted whether there were agreements?

MR. FOSTER:  All six of them was to verify that there were agreements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay, okay.  So does that mean anytime a customer says "I never signed anything" you investigate?  I am trying to make the link.

MR. FOSTER:  Can you repeat that, Mr. Shepherd, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  See, you saw that I already was going on to the next question and you figured, okay, he will forget what the question was, which I probably did.

I am going to move on, because I actually have forgotten my question.

I want to move to -- oh, no, I do have another question about investigations, though.  That was the question I was going to.  So you had these six investigations last year.  What was the resolution of each one?

MR. FOSTER:  In each case the billers provided signed contracts and verification call recordings of the customers confirming the charges on that call.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then out of -- what did you have, 17 million transactions last year?  Something like that.

MR. FOSTER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In the ballpark.  You investigated six times.  Every one was resolved in favour of the biller.  So nobody got any strikes; right?  And nobody got any admonishments.

MR. FOSTER:  That's correct.  Now, in each of the cases the charges were credited back to the customer.  In each of those cases it had already been done by the biller through the dispute process prior to our investigation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Were they all the same biller?

MR. FOSTER:  No, they were not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Were they six different billers?

MR. FOSTER:  I don't know off the top of my head.  I can get that answer for you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, it's not important enough to worry about.

None of those were audits; right?  They were investigations.

MR. FOSTER:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You never did an audit of any biller last year, right?

MR. FOSTER:  We did one audit in the last quarter of 2019.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And what was the result of that?  Or is it not completed yet?

MR. FOSTER:  We are still working on the investigation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You've never -- except for the question of whether somebody has agreements in place, you've never investigated, or at least not in the last year, a biller for any other breaches of the OBA agreement; is that right?  You had six investigations.  They were all about whether they had signed agreements.

MR. FOSTER:  We have completed other investigations, mostly for things that aren't related to the dispute process or the validity of contracts.  Some of them are minor -- well, could be considered minor, as in a biller's phone number is out of service and customers can't reach them.  That's part of the OBA agreement.  They have to be able to provide customer service.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you have never -- do any of your billers have any strikes right now?

MR. FOSTER:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So either your billers are very good people, and I am sure most of them are, in fact, and some of them are my clients, or you're not really checking very thoroughly to see whether your billers are complying with their obligations; are you?

MR. FOSTER:  I think a couple of changes, the Consumer Protection Act, the changes to door-to-door sales practices has certainly resulted in us not having to complete as many investigations as we would have at the beginning of the program.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I want to ask a little bit about how you perceive your role relative to the relationship between your customer and the biller.

What you said earlier, I thought, was that you basically provide a billing service and from a dispute point of view, all you do is provide a tracking system.  Is that right?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes, that's correct.  It's designed to ensure that the disputes are dealt with.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay -- no, no, no, hold on.  Your tracking system doesn't -- it just tells you and the biller, not the customer, but just you and the biller, where a dispute stands, right?

MR. FOSTER:  The customers can see the status of their dispute if they have an online account, and they also -- there's a bill message on the bills that gives updates of the status of the dispute as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But they don't have access to the tracking system.  Only you and the billers do, right?

MR. FOSTER:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The tracking system has more information?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can you go to page 41 of our materials?  This is your flow diagram of the dispute process, right?

MR. FOSTER:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The obvious question is -- I mean, first, am I right that Enbridge does not see itself as mediator or judge in disputes, right?  That's not your role?

MR. FOSTER:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're not the policemen for the marketplace.  You're not trying to enforce external rules, right?

MR. FOSTER:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are, to a certain extent, collection agents, right?

MR. FOSTER:  We are facilitating the billing and collection process, but I wouldn't call us a collection agency.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, when a customer calls you up and says take this charge off my bill, I didn't agree to this, you say no, right?

MR. FOSTER:  We would start the dispute process then.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that means you will not take it off their bill, right?

MR. FOSTER:  At that point in time.  It may come off the bill through the dispute process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You have an average of more than 100 bills a day, right -- a 100 disputes a day, sorry, way more than 100 bills a day, right?

Every business day for as far back as you can remember, you have had 100 disputes initiated, yes?

I can assist you.  If you go to page 3 where you have your disputes listed, the averages are 112 in 2014, 126 in 2015 and so on.  All over 100 every year, right, per day, per business day?

MR. FOSTER:  Page 3 of your compendium?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. FOSTER:  On average, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And in fact, you were taken earlier to the types of disputes, so I am not going to go through that again.

But it's fair to say that this is a costly exercise managing these, what you have right now to date, since the beginning of 2014, 131,000 disputes.  That's a costly exercise for you, right?

MR. FOSTER:  There's definitely a cost and as we have said earlier, a lot of the process is automated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  True.  Well, not necessarily automated for the customer, right?  Automated for you and the billers, but from the point of view of the customer, most of them actually call you, right?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes, most of them call us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And right now the way the dispute resolution process works is that when a customer calls, your call centre employees have been trained and they have scripts to deal with most types of disputes.  They are taught this is a CPA, this is this type, this is that type, et cetera, right?

MR. FOSTER:  They do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And customers have to give a reason for a dispute, right?  They can't just say I don't want to pay this?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes, typically they would give a reason for the dispute.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, I wasn't asking whether they do.  I was asking whether they have to.  They have to, right?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't start a dispute unless they say here is why I am disputing this?

MR. FOSTER:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, in your new proposal, as I understand the changes, what you're proposing is, number one, instead of the customer having to call back three times before it gets off their bill, now it's only twice, right?

MR. FOSTER:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So only one reinstatement is allowed, not two?

MR. FOSTER:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Secondly, there's a 15-day limit, and that's -- is that calendar or business days?

MR. FOSTER:  Calendar days.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Calendar days.  So it's basically the same as Staff's ten business days, right, almost?

MR. FOSTER:  It's very close, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the 15 days was the limit for CPA, right?

MR. FOSTER:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So basically the reason you chose this, correct me if I am wrong, is so that as a fix to make your system do this, you are simply going to call everything CPA right now and that will kick in the 15 day limit, right, because it doesn't matter anymore whether it's CPA or not?

MR. FOSTER:  That's part of it, yes.  Part of it's balancing all the different positions and balancing -- pardon me, and making it a quicker resolution time for all disputes.  And another big part of that is the system functionality is already built where disputes are created and it creates the 15-day due date.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's just simpler to switch over, right?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes, it's pretty straightforward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the other thing which I didn't catch and I think you are now saying is that under the new proposal, the customer does not have to give a reason for their dispute.  They can simply say, I don't like this, I don't want to pay this, I dispute whether it's fair, whatever -- they can say anything.  If they don't want to pay it, it's a dispute, yes?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes, we said that earlier.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The new proposal, however, still accepts instructions solely from the billers, right, to reinstate -- well, to put it on the bill in the first place, but then to reinstate only from the billers, right?

MR. FOSTER:  Correct, in the 15-day -- within the 15-day limit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I was a little confused.  Earlier I thought you said that if a biller wants to reinstate they have to show you a contemporaneous customer authorization, but that's not right; is it?  I misunderstood that.

MS. LYNCH:  If they want to reinstate after the 15-day period then they --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the second reinstatement is still possible, but now they need the customer to show you "we agree."

MS. LYNCH:  After the 15-day period, they would have to show it before anything would be put back on the bill.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Or if its's been reinstated and the customer's called again.  Right?

MR. FOSTER:  Just to clarify, do you mean if it was resolved the first time?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if it was claimed to be resolved, yes, and the customer calls back saying no.

MR. FOSTER:  We will take everything off, and -- to get it back on we would need the signed authorization, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I understand that.

Now, it sounds like we are talking about 15 days or 45 days under the current system, but I was trying to figure out the timing of this from the customer's point of view, so the customer sees a charge on their bill and says, no, you know what, I don't think I ever agreed to that, or whatever, or, you know, I don't like this supplier and I don't want to pay them.  They see it on their bill and they call you, then the biller has up to 45 days right now to tell you that it's resolved, so the customer sees it on their next bill anyway, right, but the dispute's still in process?

MR. FOSTER:  They could see it on their next bill, yes --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then --


MR. FOSTER:  -- with a message that the dispute's in process, with a bill message that the dispute's in process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then in the third bill now if they see it again -- so now we are talking 60 days, right?  If they see it again they say, whoa, wait a second, I complained about that, they call you again, right, so now we are 60 days in, because they only know that it's been resolved because they don't see it on their bill any more or because they see a change on their bill, right?  You don't call them up and say, hey, it's been resolved.

MR. FOSTER:  That's correct.  The biller would have that conversation with them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, or not.  You don't know; right?

MR. FOSTER:  Our expectation is that they have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then -- then -- so now we are on the third bill, and under the current system if they call you up again the biller can still reinstate it; right?  The first bill, initiate the dispute.  Second bill, we are still in the 45 days.  Third bill, why is it still on there, call again.  Fourth bill...

MR. FOSTER:  There's the potential for that to happen.  It depends on the timing of the customer's billing date, when the dispute was filed, and when a resolution is received.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah, but I am not finished.  Because it's still not off their bill; right?  They're only going to know that it's off their bill at the fifth bill.  150 days later they can see that it's off their bill.

MR. FOSTER:  It shouldn't be five bills, no.  It would be unlikely that it's even four bills.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I don't see how you can get to less than that if you have two reinstatements.

MR. FOSTER:  The first reinstatement, when it's reinstated the first time the due date is the original due date of the dispute or it's five business days.  And if it's reinstated a second time it's removed from the bill manually by Enbridge.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood, except the customer doesn't know any of this until they get their bill, right, and you don't send them an early bill; right?  Their bills are every 30 days, right, once a month.

MR. FOSTER:  The expectation is that throughout the dispute process they are talking with the biller.  They can also contact us for an update.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And now under the new proposal, it would really only be three bills maximum before it would be off -- like, the fourth bill it would be gone, because if you just do the math, the first bill they complain, 15 days, right, so if they complain really fast then the next bill it's off; right?  If they don't complain really fast it's the third bill it's off, right, unless it's reinstated.

MR. FOSTER:  In the new proposal there's no reinstatement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, there is one reinstatement; right?

MR. FOSTER:  No, if they call back to say they don't agree with the resolution then it's removed from the bill.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you don't even count the first call?  Because if I am a customer I count that first call.

MR. FOSTER:  The first call the dispute gets created.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So after the second call, after it's been reinstated, right, and they call back again saying, no, I didn't agree to that, then it's removed under your new proposal.

MR. FOSTER:  On the new proposal it's on the customer's second call.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that's still 90 days; right?  Potentially.

MR. FOSTER:  I don't think it would be 90 days.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, well, see, the reason I am asking these questions is that if I were a customer and it was a $25 -- well, I may not be a good example, because I would probably fight anyway.  But for a lot of customers if it's a $25 water heater charge they might give up, don't they?  Some of them give up, and you have no way of knowing how many gave up; do you?  What you call "resolved", you have no way of knowing that's actually "gave up".

MR. FOSTER:  No, we would not know if they gave up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, Madam Chair.  I have about ten minutes on post-contract charges, if you will indulge me.  I tried to be as fast as I could.

So I want to start -- you use the term around -- in much of your evidence -- or Enbridge uses the term "buyout and other post-contract charges"; right?  I saw it in numerous places; right?

MR. FOSTER:  Yes, that's correct.  There's lots of different wording.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  The reason I ask that is because I sort of thought, well, then these are really buyouts, but they're not, actually, and if you go to page 31 of our materials, buyouts are 12 percent of post-contract charges.  The vast majority of them are termination and exit fees; isn't that right?

You can accept my numbers subject to check.

MR. FOSTER:  I was just looking for evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, sorry, didn't I say page 31 of our materials.

MR. FOSTER:  Yes, I was looking for corresponding evidence.  That includes other information.  Sorry.  Some of them would be exit or termination fees, but there's -- if you look at our response to Summitt 4, you can see a number of those are -- end up -- like, of all the transactions they're credits.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay, all right, that's fair.  That's fair.

MR. FOSTER:  So for instance, account settlement rentals, which has the most annual transactions, is also --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a credit.

MR. FOSTER:  In the last two years, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then it's true.

MR. STEVENS:  Perhaps I can assist, Mr. Shepherd.  The government's website indicates that the Ministry of Government and Consumer Services maintains the searchable 
-- a searchable list, which is the consumer-beware list, of businesses that have either not answered the Ministry after they were sent two notifications about a consumer complaint or been charged or convicted in relation to the Consumer Protection Act or other Acts of the Ministry.  Information about a business will remain on the consumer-beware list between 21 and 27 months.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So will the witnesses adopt their counsel's evidence?  I need somebody who is sworn to say it.

MR. FOSTER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  The reason I ask this is because it's correct, isn't it, that eight of your billers, including Summitt, who are here and who are going to ask questions, I assume, eight of your billers are -- or were as of May 16th, 2019 on the consumer-beware list; right?  I just counted.

MS. LYNCH:  We've included the list in HVAC 23.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What?  Oh, sorry, yes.

And I am right, am I not, that when a company is put on the consumer-beware list, for example if they are convicted under the Consumer Protection Act, you don't take any action to change their status as a biller; do you?  Some of these companies have been convicted.  That's why I am asking.

MS. LYNCH:  No.  I would note that we would not know through this whether the complaints -- what the nature of the complaints were.

MR. SHEPHERD:  True enough.  True enough.  But even if you did know, even if somebody called you up and said, hey, you know, Joe Blow Inc. that's on the consumer-beware list just convicted of ripping off 10,000 consumers, you would not take them off your biller list, would you, under the current OBA agreement?

MS. LYNCH:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, and I thank you for your indulgence.
Questions by the Board:

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, and now we will have Panel questions.

I have a couple.  And I -- it references the -- I think Mr. Hasan mentioned that you're reviewing your billing codes, and I just wasn't clear, when is that happening and when do you expect that to be complete?

MR. HASAN:  We expect that to be completed this year.

MS. ANDERSON:  In 2020.

MR. HASAN:  Yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, thank you.  The other point that was raised was the presence of a deferral or variance account related to the OBA, and my question is do we have the accounting order related to that on the record of this proceeding, and when -- was that created -- was that established as a result of a settlement agreement?

MR. STEVENS:  If it's okay for me to answer the question --

MS. ANDERSON:  If you are just going to point me to some evidence or an interrogatory response that would be perfect, because if not we would do it by an undertaking, but...

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly.  I believe we probably will have to provide an undertaking to furnish a copy of the accounting order itself.  I believe it's described in the various settlement agreements, the nature of how the accounting order works.  It was established, if I remember correctly, first as part of the 2007 settlement agreement, and it's continued forward in virtually the same form since then and has been approved in each subsequent settlement endorsing the continuation of the OBA program, but if it would be helpful we would be pleased to file a copy of the accounting order --

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, if there is an accounting order I think I would like to have that filed.

MR. MILLAR:  That's J1.1, Madam Chair.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO FILE THE ACCOUNTING ORDER.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Those were my questions.  Mr. Stevens, any redirect?

MR. STEVENS:  No, we have no redirect questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, thank you.  So rather than us hover -- thank you very much, panel, for your time -- while we are getting the next panel up, I think we will just take five minutes because, again, we are going to try and finish up early without a full break, so we will just get out of your hair and take you off air.
--- Recess taken at 2:53 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:59 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.  Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  In the witness box, as it were, is Mr. Glen Leis.  And I will just ask if he could state and, as required, spell his name, and then ask that he be affirmed.  
VISTA CREDIT CORP. - PANEL 1

Glen Leis, Affirmed.

Examination-in-Chief by Mr. Mondrow:


MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Leis, your current role and the capacity in which you are here today is senior vice president business development for VISTA Credit Corp.?


MR. LEIS:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  You have held that role for a year, but you have been with VISTA, as I understand it, since 2008 in various product development and sales roles.

MR. LEIS:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Could you look at the last page of VISTA's evidence -- and I will come back to that evidence and have you adopt it in a minute.  But if you can look at the last page of that evidence, we have filed your CV.  If you could turn that up and just confirm for me that that is accurate, please.

MR. LEIS:  Yes, that is accurate.

MR. MONDROW:  I am just waiting for the screen, Madam Chair.  It should be the very last page.

In the interim, Mr. Leis, could you just confirm for me that based on your CV, you have had different roles in the Ontario energy sector since 1994, the first with Enbridge starting in 1994 and that lasted about eight years.

MR. LEIS:  That's correct, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And that included managing the Enbridge home services rental program until 2002?

MR. LEIS:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And then what happened in 2002?

MR. LEIS:  Well, in 2002, Direct Energy took over.  There was a reorganization and I was put into the finance department.

MR. MONDROW:  And what happened to the rental water heater business at that time?

MR. LEIS:  The rental water heater business actually ended up being actually split into two, with the Consumers water heating fund taking the asset, and then Direct Energy managing the program.

But that's all water under the bridge now, as it's all been brought back together again.

MR. MONDROW:  You stayed on with Direct Energy in the home services business until 2005.

MR. LEIS:  That's correct, but not in the home services business.  In the end, I was actually in the small commercial business.

MR. MONDROW:  And then you took a role with OSS Corporation in the same general area of business for about two years or so?

MR. LEIS:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  I see from your CV you have three post secondary degrees.  You have an honour’s bachelor of arts economics and political of science from the University of Toronto, an international MBA from the Helsinki School of Economics, and an MBA from Queen's University.

MR. LEIS:  That's correct, and I am also a CPA.

MR. MONDROW:  Just before we get to adopting the evidence, can you describe, please, the basis of your familiarity with the issues before the Board in this proceeding and before the OBA program in general?

MR. LEIS:  Well, I think what's highly relevant is what VISTA does and as per our response to VECC 1, VISTA works in partnerships with HVAC contractors to offer contract administration services and financing rental options for smaller contractors.

These services allow VISTA partners to compete with the products and services offered by the large incumbent providers, that being Reliance and EnerCare.

VISTA agreements are co-branded with the HVAC contractor, and the customer contacts the contractor directly for any equipment and service issues.

VISTA acquires signed contracts from its contractor partners and undertakes the billing and collection activities, and other contract administration activities -- financing and rental agreements, for example -- including engagement with the OBA program.

What's also relevant here is some history.  I am somewhat familiar with this issue; it comes up now and again over the last couple of decades.  My familiarity began with my involvement with the unbundling of ancillary services back in '99, when I was with Enbridge Gas Distribution.  At that time, we managed to keep the Billing of ancillary services on the Enbridge bill.

Soon after that, I was put in charge of the rental program, which is now known as EnerCare, with Enbridge home services.  It came up again during my initial foray into competing with the incumbent water heater providers including my former employer, which at that point was branded direct energy when I was in charge of a company called OZZ.

During that time, I was also a member of the HVAC Coalition, who are also here today, and I advocated for the opening of the Enbridge bill to other third party billers.

VISTA is the company I am with now.  VISTA actually managed to be in with the first group of billers allowed on to the bill back in '08 and as a partner in VISTA, I have been involved in various discussions and decisions surrounding the bill here at the OEB and elsewhere.

So it remains to be seen if I am an authority, but I am certainly a veteran of this file.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Mr. Leis.  VISTA has filed a package of evidence, and that consists of nine pages of written evidence.

Attachment A is a copy of an Enbridge customer forum report on third party billing customer research from 2011.

Attachment B is 48 pages of materials related to five example customer dispute cases referred to in the written evidence.

Attachment C is a copy of rule H1 of the Canadian Payments Association, also referred to in the witness evidence.  And the last page is your CV, which we have spoken to already.

Are you prepared to adopt that material as your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. LEIS:  I am.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, I don't know if you want to label that as an exhibit, or just accept it as evidence.

MS. ANDERSON:  What's the norm, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Mondrow, are these materials provided in your -- these are your prefiled materials?

MR. MONDROW:  These are prefiled materials, and we didn't put exhibit numbers on them.  An applicant obviously would do that, but we didn’t.  So if you would like to mark them as an exhibit for the record...


MS. ANDERSON:  I think that's helpful.

MR. MILLAR:  Sure, let's mark it then, Exhibit K1.5.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  VISTA CREDIT CORP. PREFILED MATERIALS


MR. MONDROW:  You were asked, Mr. Leis, a number of interrogatories on that evidence, the responses to which have been filed.  These are responses from VISTA to each of Board Staff.  There were four interrogatories and responses.  Enbridge Gas asked for interrogatories, VECC asked three interrogatories.

Were those responses prepared by you or under your direction, control and supervision?

MR. LEIS:  Yes, they were.

MR. MONDROW:  And do you adopt them as your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. LEIS:  I do.

MR. MONDROW:  And they have interrogatory designations, Madam Chair, so they can be referred to that way, I think, if that's all right with the panel.

Mr. Leis, VISTA filed a position statement on Wednesday, as requested of all parties by the Board.  Do you have that in front of you?

MR. LEIS:  I do, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Can you summarize not the position set out there, because that's already set out, but the basis for VISTA’s position as reflected in the position statement?

MR. LEIS:  Yes, I am glad to have that opportunity.

I think our stance here might seem a little odd in that EnerCare and Reliance oppose the changes we are proposing because having Enbridge collect on their behalf is to their benefit.  As a finance company that bills many of the same products and services as Reliance and EnerCare -- for independent HVAC contractors, mind you -- you’d suspect that we'd want the same thing, that we would want Enbridge branded collections that would ensure payments from customers fearful of having their gas shut off.

There are three fundamental reasons that we stand with HVAC in support of the changes we’re discussing today.

The first is fairness.  We speak of this in our evidence and responses.  The utility provides an essential service and as such a great influence over the homeowner.  The gas bill and everything that's on it has to be paid every month.  We provided examples in our evidence, but think about this as well.  There are literally, literally hundreds of thousands of customers that were sold new rental water heaters during a frenzy -- a frenzy of high-pressure door-to-door selling that came to an end with the introduction of new consumer laws back in 2014.  Most of these customers are billed even today on the Enbridge Gas bill.  Hearings were held at Queens Park back in the fall of 2013 to discuss door-to-door water-heater sales.  VISTA made submissions there, as did EnerCare, which was then known as Direct Energy, as well as Enbridge.

During the hearing EnerCare submitted -- or stated that sales -- the sales practices of these door-to-door sellers were, quote, misleading, deceptive, and criminal.  We are of the opinion that perpetuating enforcement mechanism for contracts obtained by various forms of deceptive high-pressure sales tactics is not fair.

The second is consistency.  We see no reason why the Enbridge bill should be any different than any other billing mechanism.  Customers have a right -- they have a right to stop periodic billing through pre-authorized payments.  Customers also have the right to reverse charges on their credit cards.  The companies making the charges do not have the right to unilaterally, unilaterally, unilaterally reintroduce those charges like they do on the Enbridge bill.

The final reason is that, although the Enbridge bill is an excellent platform for periodic payments well liked by customers and good for competition, we don't need Enbridge to collect buyouts on our behalf and we are at a loss to understand why anybody else would.  The changes we are asking for do not in any way compromise EnerCare or anybody else's ability to enforce their agreements with homeowners.  But the changes will prevent the misuse we observe of the Enbridge brand and all the goodwill it has as a utility being used to make collections.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you Mr. Leis.

Madam Chair, Mr. Leis is available for examination.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

Mr. Shepherd.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I am going to give you back some of the extra time I used.  I had 15 minutes, but I have one question.

Mr. Leis, you heard Enbridge say in their -- the Enbridge witnesses say in their direct evidence that customers are not required to pay disputed charges -- OBA charges that are on their Enbridge bill and customers are informed of that.  In your experience is that true?

MR. LEIS:  I think we have provided evidence that says that that's not true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you expand?

MR. LEIS:  Well, I think that the -- just can you repeat the question quickly, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  Enbridge said the customer is not required to pay disputed charges and is informed of that fact.

MR. LEIS:  No, they are not informed of that fact, in my opinion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, and what's the basis of your knowledge?

MR. LEIS:  That they are not informed of the -- that they don't have to pay the buyout charge?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. LEIS:  It's based on the evidence we provided, the cases we provided.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is this to your personal knowledge?  You have customers who have told you this?

MR. LEIS:  Well, I think it's in the evidence in the e-mails we provided, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.

Mr. Garner.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Garner:

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Madam Chair. I may be quick too, because I am a little -- I had the order reversed, and so it may be a little bit -- of witnesses, so it may be a little quicker.

Mr. Leis, I want to ask you a few things about your business and how you work with contractors because, as I take it, the difference between yourself, your business, and an Enersource or Reliance business is that your business is to accommodate or help contractors who work in homes to basically finance equipment or get equipment put in; is that correct?

MR. LEIS:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  So -- and I don't want to be pejorative 

-- in some ways sometimes you are in the business of breaking up relationships that already exist, and you help them in that way sometimes, do you not?

MR. LEIS:  Well, we don't do any direct selling, if that is what you are asking.  Like, we are not out telling customers to break agreements, if that's what you are asking.

MR. GARNER:  No, and I am not suggesting that you would be.  What I was suggesting is that when a customer might run into a problem they can contact you and say, I am having a problem, this is, you know, this is not happening the way you said it would happen, you know.  Do you help them then?

MR. LEIS:  Yes, we do.  And it's a value-add as a finance company.  It makes us a little different.  You are correct.

MR. GARNER:  Would I be correct, is one of the major differences between the clients you serve, which are contractors, and a company like Enersource, is that generally speaking contractors are not in the business of maintaining long-term relationships, they are in the business of basically putting in equipment, servicing, and having that equipment paid back to them.  They are not generally particularly in what I call the rental business.  They might be in what I call the rent-to-own or finance business of something; is that correct?

MR. LEIS:  Well, I think that all HVAC companies have access to financing and provide financing.  A lot of HVAC companies offer protection plans.  I certainly think that it's in the interest of HVAC companies to establish long-term relationships, and I think they do the best they can to do that, and we help facilitate that.

MR. GARNER:  Now, as I understand it, you're taking -- you take the position that there should be no ability to put termination fees on an Enbridge bill; is that correct?

MR. LEIS:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  Can you help me understand how that works in your business with termination of the same type?  So you're helping a client and somebody wants to terminate theirs.  How do they pay your client or you and then you pay your client?

MR. LEIS:  Well, the customer would contact us and, you know, ultimately a review of their agreement would come up, and the buyout amount would be calculated, and they have a choice of paying on Repay, which is a credit-card-based service, they can send a cheque, and the option is there now to do it on the Enbridge bill, but we certainly don't need it.

MR. GARNER:  And you don't think it's appropriate for other people to use it because you don't use it, but can you help me -- just because you don't use it why isn't it appropriate for them to use it?

MR. LEIS:  Oh, okay.  I see what you are saying, okay.

I think it goes back to what I was stating earlier about the Enbridge bills and our evidence as well that the Enbridge brand is sort of a coercive force that aids in collections, and especially citing the examples I did with the door-to-door, you could end up with a lot of customers paying buyout and removal charges on contracts they don't have to pay for as a result of them believing it is an Enbridge-approved and sanctioned charge.

MR. GARNER:  Can I ask you a little bit about that?  You were talking about the frenzy of door-to-door, but I suggest to you for water-heater rentals now, limiting yourself to that, is there are three types of categories, I am going to suggest to you, out there.  There are legacy water rentals out there.  I will call them legacies from different eras and that.  There are the ones that were signed up specifically, whether it was door-to-door, but there's a specific marketing exercise that acquired those, and there's another set that are really occurring through new development when -- is that your experience too?  Developers specifically, they sometimes include equipment now and agreements within their purchase, home purchase things?

MR. LEIS:  That's correct, yes.

MR. GARNER:  And when you're dealing with people with your clients -- and I'd like to ask the HVAC the same question -- is when a client -- if I am a client and I buy a new home, from your experience, I wonder if you can help me, is, how does anybody know whether I agreed to an agency transfer?  Like, when I do a home, I do an offer, it goes to the purchaser, and then the whole thing's registered someplace else, but the actual potential of the agency transfer or not exists between me and the purchaser.

How does anybody who might have had an agency with -- or believes they haven agency, how do they discover whether they do or they don't actually have it?

MR. LEIS:  Well, if you're referring to, like, agency that the builder basically assigns a customer or the new homeowner to a rental agreement, I would have no familiarity with that, because we actually have our customers in the new construction market sign agreements.  We have direct agreements with new home buyers.  We don't rely on any agency.

MR. GARNER:  Are you aware of anybody -- well, are you aware of any companies, development companies, that do that, where they basically sell the home with the equipment inside of the home and then part of the offer basically says you accept this rental agreement or whatever it is?

MR. LEIS:  In the purchase and sale agreement?

MR. GARNER:  In the purchase and sale agreements.

MR. LEIS:  Well, I think in most purchase and sale agreements in Ontario it says that there is a rental water heater, and often rentals -- other rental systems in the home, so that's just fairly standard.

MR. GARNER:  I don't dispute that.  What I am wondering is how would anybody know if one eliminated that?  In your experience of seeing this in that -- I mean you can cross that out, and people still sign the agreement, and it just goes forward, right, unless someone really cares about the water heater rental in their home.  Do you know?  Is there any way to know?

MR. LEIS:  To know that if you cross that off your purchase and sale agreement that basically you are not responsible for the rental anymore.  Is that what you are saying?

MR. GARNER:  Yes.

MR. LEIS:  I am sorry, sir, but I am not a lawyer.  I don't know.  I don’t know what that would mean.

MR. GARNER:  But for your company, if you were doing something like that and somebody says, well, I didn't sign an agreement with these guys; in fact, I took it off my purchase order in my thing.  It's not there, so I can do whatever I want.

MR. LEIS:  Like I said, we don't rely on that.  So customers might come to us or the installing contractor that's putting in the water and say I don't want to rent, and they just buy it.  They either sign the rental agreement that's associated specifically with that equipment or they don't.

MR. GARNER:  And in your business model, the issue --part of the issue in front of the board is really two narrow questions, right.  And one of those narrow questions, it seems to me, is whether a customer has an ability to directly control the transaction by simply saying I want A, or I want B, et cetera.

And as I understand it, you're advocating for that type of control of the customer on the Enbridge bill; is that correct?

MR. LEIS:  Yeah, we are.  Yes, we are advocating for that type of control, that's correct.

MR. GARNER:  And does that also hurt you as much as it would anybody else, if a customer then says to you, well, I don't want VISTA's charge on there, so take it off.  I don't really care.  I will fight VISTA on my own; that's my business.

MR. LEIS:  Yeah, it could hurt us, that's right.  We would have to pursue the channels available to any other finance company that's not billing on the gas bill to enforce our agreements, but we are willing to do that.

MR. GARNER:  Maybe it's the question I ask you again, but you don't seem worried about that.  But to put it bluntly, Enersource and Reliance do seem worried about that.  Why?

MR. LEIS:  I'd like to say that you need to ask them.  I could speculate, but I don't know if that's worth it.

MR. GARNER:  That's fair.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Garner, on a few occasions you have said Enersource and I just want to clarify it's EnerCare.

MR. GARNER:  Yes, I’m sorry, EnerCare.  I’m sue they’d be happy if I was saying Enersource.

MR. LEIS:  I did understand it as EnerCare, just to be clear.

MS. ANDERSON:  I assumed that.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will try to get my utilities or companies in order there.

If I can just have one moment?  As I said, I was a little bit out of order here.

I think those are my questions, Madam Chair.  Thank you, Mr. Leis.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Ladanyi?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Ladanyi:


MR. LADANYI:  I will be happy to say that Mr. Garner has asked some of the questions that I was going to ask already, but I still have a few any way.

First, just a few minutes ago, you explained there are other options available to billers for collecting their buyouts and termination fees, and you mentioned credit cards and so on.

Enbridge this morning was saying that having termination fees on the bill are required to maintain balance, and this appears to be some kind of a fairness issue.  I don't quite understand why there would be a fairness issue having termination fees on the bill, on the Enbridge bill, instead of having it separately billed through some other mechanism.  Can you comment on that?

MR. LEIS:  Yes, I can.  Like we offer the option, and to be honest with you, most people want to put their buyout on a credit card to get points.  That is the reality.  That is the preferred method this day.

So, you know, is it about fairness and balance?  I don't know why it would be.  It's really a consumer preference issue and speaking personally and speaking from experience within my company, people like to put stuff on credit cards because they get points.  So why would they want to do a buyout on the Enbridge bill.

MR. LADANYI:  Enbridge also mentioned convenience.  But in your experience, convenience really is using your credit card.

MR. LEIS:  I don't know how convenient it would be to put on the Enbridge bill, because when you do it on your credit card, it's pretty clear when the transaction goes through.  The timeline and the processing with Enbridge might not be so clear, and then making sure it goes through on the bill properly, I don't know how it is a more convenient, to be honest with you.  I think the credit card be more convenient.

MR. LADANYI:  I have a follow-up to one of the Interrogatories that I had asked you.  I don't have a compendium, but perhaps if we can have the VISTA Credit Corporation response to Energy Probe No. 2?

So in part (a), I asked:
"Please confirm that OBA program was and is only available in the legacy Enbridge Gas Distribution franchise areas of Ontario."

And your response said:
"Not confirmed.  The OBA program does provide billing services for areas outside of the legacy Enbridge Gas Distribution territory.  However, these are stand alone bills which do not include any utility charges and are considerably more expensive for the biller to use." [as read]

Can you explain this?  What kind of bills would these be?  Who would be billed and where is this provided?

MR. LEIS:  We don't use it, but I think it’s in the biller manual where you have like an ex-franchise, an ex-utility franchise bill they can send out, and I believe the cost was roughly double that of doing a bill on the utility bill.

But it is available, and it's an Enbridge bill.

MR. LADANYI:  So it's an Enbridge bill sent to a customer somewhere in a non-Enbridge territory?

MR. LEIS:  Yeah, like a customer in Waterloo might get one.

MR. LADANYI:  I still don't understand, though.  Under what circumstances would that happen?

MR. LEIS:  We don't use it.

MR. LADANYI:  You don't use it, so...


MR. LADANYI:  I should have asked Enbridge that question, I guess.

MR. LEIS:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay, very good.  It's puzzling, but you don't know whether in these ex-franchise bills there is -- it would not be for gas service, would it?  There would be no gas service.

MR. LEIS:  Well, Enbridge doesn’t -- well, Enbridge does now, I guess, technically.  But no, I don't believe so, no.

MR. LADANYI:  So they could already be billing in Union Gas territory by your example?  I thought it was some place where there was no gas service whatsoever.

MR. LEIS:  No, I don't know in that's on a Union Gas bill.  Like you said, that was a question for Enbridge.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good, okay.  If I can have Energy Probe No. 4, if we can have that on the screen?

I won't go through this.  It's an excellent answer and there's two nice attachments.

But first can you confirm for me that as far as you know, EnerCare does not have signed contracts with all the water heater customers, is that right?

MR. LEIS:  Well, in the examples we provided, you can see that they don't, right.  And our experience is, yeah, they do not always have signed agreements with our rental customers.

MR. LADANYI:  When they don't have signed agreement, how they inform the customer what the appropriate buyout charges are?

MR. LEIS:  They do mail -- this is my understanding, they do mail pamphlets to customers with buyout charts.  They make references to their website where there's buyout charts.

But in the case where a customer does not have a signed agreement, and they do have signed agreements, there's no guarantee that a customer has ever seen an EnerCare buyout chart.

MR. LADANYI:  So in your attachments to this interrogatory, there appears to be the buyout chart, page 6 of 11.  Yes, further down.  Yes.  Is that a buyout chart?

MR. LEIS:  That is a buyout chart, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Can you just explain to us how this buyout chart works?

MR. LEIS:  Yes.  That’s funny, because I actually came up with this format back when I was at Enbridge Home Services.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good.

MR. LEIS:  Basically, the customer needs to look at their water heater, determine how old it is, and you could do that with the serial number, and then go down and go, well, I have got a power vent -- let's see here.  I have got a power vent 50 water heater, which is the third column, let's say seven years old.  I want to buy it, and Direct Energy or EnerCare is going to charge me $738.

MR. LADANYI:  How would the customer know the age of the water heater?

MR. LEIS:  Like I said, the serial number, I suppose It's not that easy...


MR. LADANYI:  But the customer themselves would not know?

MR. LEIS:  Well, yeah, because water heaters can -- like we run into this problem as well, right.  The serial number on the water heater isn't necessarily indicative of when it was installed or when it started to be used.  So a water heater could sit in inventory at a distributor or at the manufacturer and not be installed for months or a year; that can happen, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Because you know I used to work at Consumers Gas and Enbridge, and I remember a warehouse full of water heaters.

MR. LEIS:  Yeah.

MR. LADANYI:  I also don't know how long they sat there or what was happening.  So you are telling me their water heaters are aged from the moment of purchase and not from the moment of installation?

MR. LEIS:  In accordance with the serial number it is, but I don't know their policy, but you'd assume it was when they started using it.

MR. LADANYI:  Correct.  So that -- yeah, the poor customer, when presented with this chart, wouldn't actually know what to do with it; would they?

MR. LEIS:  Well, as a veteran of the water-heater business I would, but the average person, probably not.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  These are all my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

Mr. Millar, are you prepared to start?

MR. MILLAR:  I am, and I am not likely to be much more than five minutes, so I think I will start and finish --


MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  And just -- Mr. Duffy, we would start with you in the morning, and we weren't looking to get you going until the morning, just to have you -- since you certainly wouldn't complete in time, so if we could fit Mr. Millar in, then we will have gone a little further than we expected to do today, so that would be good.


Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Great, thank you, Madam Chair, and good afternoon, Mr. Leis.  Just a couple of questions for you, and some of my matters have already been covered.  I don't know if you have in front of you, but Board Staff filed a compendium earlier today marked as Exhibit K1.2, and I am just going to take you to a couple things which I think we can just look at on the screen, because some of it is your own evidence.

At tab 9 of that evidence, which is in fact the very last page of the document, this is just an extract from your pre-filed position, which you will recognize.  And you outline some of your concerns with the current OBA program and operation.

And if we look down to line 10 in particular, you express some concerns informed by your longstanding participation in the OBA program that customer perception renders particularly problematic the ability of third-party billers to include penalties, exit fees, and termination, et cetera.  And I just want to ask you a couple of questions about that.

First of all, you are aware that as part of the supplemental partial settlement agreement additional information is going to be provided to customers about their, I guess their rights with respect to the bill; are you familiar with that?

MR. LEIS:  Yes, I am.

MR. MILLAR:  And does that do anything to alleviate your concerns?  Does that make this a little bit better?

MR. LEIS:  Well, it's tough to say.  Right in the beginning you have got the issue of customers actually paying attention and reading that information.  Right?  That's an issue.  And the other is timing.  The customer that did read and absorb that information provided might face the issue three years down the road.

MR. MILLAR:  Sure, okay.

MR. LEIS:  How is that going to help them?

MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough.  So I guess what I am hearing is certainly it's not a perfect response.  Does it help, though?  I guess --


MR. LEIS:  No, it doesn't hurt, and it probably helps, yeah.  There's going to be some customers that will read and understand it and apply it.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.  If we turn to tab 8 of Board Staff's materials.  These are -- you may be familiar with the Board's gas distribution access rule, or abbreviated as GDAR, and that has a number of, I guess, consumer protections built into it, and you will see in front of you some text that's shaded in grey.  These are pending amendments to the GDAR that are set to come into effect in March 1st, 2020, so in just a couple of months; are you familiar with these at all?

MR. LEIS:  No, not really, no.

MR. MILLAR:  That's fair enough.  I wasn't necessarily expecting you would be.

If you just look down to, for example, to the new provision 9.3.8, states that:

“Where payment on account of a bill referred to in section 9.3.6..."

Again, I don't want to take you to everything here -- in any event:

“...is not sufficient to cover gas charges, security deposits, and billing adjustment, the gas distributor shall allocate the payments in the following order:  Gas charges, payments towards arrears, payment agreements, outstanding security deposits, under-billing adjustments, and non-gas charges."

So I think what that's showing is kind of a prioritization of how customer's money will be allocated to the extent it doesn't cover all of the items on the bill.

And I take it you weren't necessarily familiar that Board was imposing new rules around that?

MR. LEIS:  To be honest with you, I thought this is how it worked today.

MR. MILLAR:  So the fact that this is being implemented in two months doesn't necessarily make you feel better, because you already thought that was the status quo?

MR. LEIS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Finally, Board Staff asked Enbridge some questions this morning about customers' ability to get themselves off the bill either with respect to specific charges or just off the bill entirely.  And I think what we heard this morning was that essentially, whether it be for a specific charge or just to get yourself entirely off the bill, if you call Enbridge you can get off the bill or have the charge rescinded within 15 days, and I respect it's a little bit more complicated than that, there's a few things going on, but what do you think about that policy?  Does that do anything to alleviate your concerns?

MR. LEIS:  Well, my concern always goes back to buyouts, right?  And, like, I don't necessarily see the dispute resolution percentages that we were looking at today as being any sign of success.  I think there's a lot of charges that end up on the bill that customers see, it's an Enbridge bill, and they just pay it.  And whether the customer can call in and have the process handled quicker doesn't address the problem of customers seeing an Enbridge-sanctioned penalty or buyout charge or exit fee that may or may not be legitimate.  We're worried about the ones that may not be legitimate, and they just end up paying it.  So I don't think that addresses the problem.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Leis, those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, thank you.  As I said for flow I think we will start off with Mr. Duffy in the morning.  I am going to butt in with one question that's been percolating in my head.  What is the average age of a water heater?

MR. LEIS:  The average age of a water heater?

MS. ANDERSON:  Yeah.  What is the life?

MR. LEIS:  The life?

MS. ANDERSON:  In your experience.

MR. LEIS:  We actually have better experts here, but in my experience --


MS. ANDERSON:  I might ask them too.

MR. LEIS:  Well, it depends on the type of water heater and the manufacturer as well, actually, but I think a water heater can last 15 years or more, if you go to the original prospectus for the Consumers Water Heater Income Fund, that's the number that they quoted.  They can last longer than that too, but sometimes they don't.  You know, you end up in situations where a poorly manufactured three-year-old water heater starts to leak.  Right?  But you can expect, you know, a well-manufactured water heater can last you 15 years.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MR. LEIS:  You're welcome.

MS. ANDERSON:  So we will be back here at 9:30 tomorrow morning, thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:37 p.m.
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